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Senior plc

Corporate profile

Senior is an international manufacturing group
with operations in 11 countries. Senior designs,
manufactures and markets high technology
components and sy stems for the principal
original eq uipment producers in the
worldwide aerospace, automotiv e and
specialised industrial markets.

A erospa ce

46%  of G roup turnov er

E ngine structures and mountings, fl uid 
control sy stems,metallic high-pressure 
ducting, composite low-pressure ducting

A u tom otiv e

40%  of G roup turnov er

F lex ib le ex haust connectors, engine 
emission pipework,diesel fuel sy stems,
air conditioning/turb o charger pipework

Ind u s tria l

14%  of G roup turnov er

M etallic and fab ric ex pansion joints,
fl ex ib le metallic hoses, composite hoses,
v entilation ducting
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Senior made good progress in 2005.

The large civil aircraft mark et had a buoyant 

year with increased deliveries and a record

number of new aircraft being ordered. In

automotive, whilst the demand for passenger

vehicles in E urope and the USA remained

steady, Senior made significant progress in getting

its new diesel products in North America ready

for the start of production scheduled for late

2006.The Industrial Division benefited from 

the recovery in the oil and gas mark et.

The year ended with an 18.4% improvement 

in adjusted profit before taxation and solid order

book s with which to enter 2006.

Financial Results

Group revenue on continuing operations

increased by 10.4% to £338.6m (2004 – £306.8m).

Operating profit increased by 18.1% to £19.6m

(2004 – £16.6m), whilst trading profit (which

excludes any profit or loss on the sale of fixed

assets) rose by 23.0% to £19.8m (2004 – £16.1m).

Adjusted profit before tax, the measure 

which the Board believes best reflects the 

true underlying performance of the business,

increased by 18.4% to £14.8m (2004 – £12.5m).

Adjusted earnings per share increased by 11.7%

to 4.01p per share (2004 – 3.59p).The results

for 2005, and the comparatives for 2004,

have been prepared for the first time under

International Financial Reporting Standards.

The derivation of trading profit, adjusted earnings

per share and other non-statutory information 

is explained in the Business Review.

Trading profits in most of the Group’s aerospace

operations improved compared to 2004 as

a result of the generally healthier mark etplace,

with those providing parts for the wide-bodied

commercial aircraft seeing the greatest gains.

Operations exposed to the regional jet mark et

found trading conditions more challenging as

a result of the decline in build rates in this sector.

Overall, the Aerospace Division improved trading

profits by 16.1% over 2004 (at constant currency).

As a result of the corrective actions tak en early

in the year, the French automotive operation

recovered from its 2004 difficulties. Its improved

financial performance assisted the Automotive

Division to report trading profits 9.9% ahead

of 2004 (at constant currency).The Division

accounted for £13.2m of the Group’s total

£16.6m of capital expenditure in the year,

as plant and machinery began to be installed

to produce the new heavy duty diesel engine

parts for the North American mark et. Start

of production remains firmly on track  for late

2006 onwards.

In the Industrial Division, trading profit more

than doubled in a year of contrasting fortunes.

On the one hand, the year contained the 

lossmak ing W embley Stadium contract at Senior

H argreaves but, more significantly, the lower cost

base and very buoyant oil and gas mark et helped

the North American operations, particularly

Pathway, to have a much improved year.

Net debt at the end of the year was £62.4m

(2004 – £50.6m), with the increase due to the

increased Automotive capital expenditure and

the effect of the strengthening US dollar on the

Group’s reported borrowings.

Acquisition

Senior made its first acquisition in six years,

Sterling Machine, in January 2006 and I am

particularly pleased to be able to welcome all

the employees of this company to the Group.

Sterling Machine, which will join the Aerospace

Division, is a k ey supplier of critical components

to the military helicopter mark et, a sector that 

has very good growth prospects.The acquisition

further widens the customer spread as well 

as increasing the military content of the Division.

It is profitable, well run and respected by its 

main customer, Sik orsk y, and it is expected

to contribute to Group earnings in 2006.

The acquisition was partially funded by a share

placing of 15 million new shares in Senior plc

at 60p per share.

Dividend

The Board is recommending an unchanged final

dividend of 1.35p per share in respect of 2005,

bringing the total paid and proposed dividends

for the year to 2.00p per share (2004 – 2.00p).

Employees and the Board

Ian Much joined the Board in December 2005

after Gordon Campbell stood down due to

his other commitments. I would lik e to thank

Gordon for his contribution and welcome

Ian who brings with him international experience

of both the aerospace and automotive mark ets.

H e will stand for election at the forthcoming

Annual General Meeting.

I would lik e to thank  all the Group’s employees

for another year of unstinting effort and

commitment in dealing with the challenges our

operations faced in 2005, a year of improving

mark et outlook , but one of unrelenting pressure

on performance.

Outlook

Recovery in the large civil aircraft mark et is well

underway and build rates are being increased

significantly.The business jet and the military and

defence sectors are strong although the regional

jet mark et is weak . Overall, notwithstanding the

current difficulty in sourcing raw materials, the

aerospace mark et sector is well positioned for

Senior. In Automotive, whilst the build rates of

passenger cars may remain flat in the Group’s

mark ets, production of the new heavy duty

diesel products is on schedule for late 2006 and

represents the beginning of significant organic

growth potential.The strong oil and gas mark et

will continue to sustain the industrial operations

and the W embley Stadium contract should be

finished in the first half of 2006.

Trading in the first two months of 2006 has

been satisfactory and in line with the Board’s

expectations.The Group can anticipate that 

2006 will bring new challenges but improved

prospects and further growth opportunities.

Chairman’s Statement
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Aerospace

During 2005, the aerospace industry continued

its rapid recovery in build rates. Boeing delivered

290 aircraft, up from 285 in 2004, and booked

a net 1,002 of new orders.They plan to deliver

395 aircraft in 2006, a 36% increase. Airbus has

not yet announced its build plan for 2006, but

it delivered 378 aircraft in 2005, an 18% increase

over 2004, and booked an unprecedented net

1,055 in new orders during the year.

Together, Boeing and Airbus delivered 668 aircraft

in 2005 but took net orders for 2,057 aircraft –

a book to bill ratio of 3.1.This was a record year

for the industry, both for the large civil aircraft

builders and for the engine suppliers, such 

as Rolls-Royce, GE and Snecma. In the smaller

regional jet aircraft sector the two main assemblers

fared less well. Bombardier reduced regional jet

deliveries by 26%, from 176 aircraft in 2004 to 

130 in 2005, and Embraer by 10% from 134 to

120. Bookings were also down with Bombardier,

suffering from significant cancellations on its CRJ

200 programme, receiving net orders for only 4

aircraft in 2005 compared to 135 in 2004 and

Embraer booking 90, down from 108.

The small business jet sector was very buoyant

and the military and defence sector remained

at a healthy level.

Senior Aerospace has a good spread of

customers in the aerospace industry with about

30% of sales being to the military and defence

sector.The industry recovery, however, is being

powered by the demand for Boeing and Airbus

large civil aircraft that should see build rates at

a higher level for a number of years to come.

In addition, there are a variety of new programmes

that are helping demand.The very large Airbus

A380 flew for the first time in 2005 and is due

into service in 2007.Work has commenced on the

European military transport aircraft, the A400M,

and production of the Eurofighter has been

extended into its second tranche of around 250

aircraft. Both Boeing and Airbus have launched new

mid-size large civil aircraft – respectively the B787

and A350 – and had received orders of 291 and

87 aircraft for these models by the end of 2005.

The new aircraft are planned to cost less to buy

and fly compared to the current equivalent aircraft.

Growth in the aerospace industry is not,

however, without its challenges.The availability

and price of raw materials is a major concern

and this could slow the industry efforts to

increase build rates.The industry uses a variety

of specialist materials in higher volumes than

most other industries. One such material is

titanium, where by January 2006 the price had

risen by over 65% from a year earlier and the

delivery lead time for supplies of titanium had

stretched to around 72 weeks.

In addition to build rates increasing, and new

aircraft being launched, Senior Aerospace now 

has an additional member company. Sterling

Machine was bought from its private owners in

January 2006. L ocated in Connecticut, USA, it is 

a well run, profitable, growing and well invested

business which makes transmission and rotor-head

components for military helicopters – primarily for

its main customer Sikorsky.The build rate of the

Sikorsky Blackhawk is forecast to grow substantially

in the near term as a result of a strong order

book. In the medium term, the US government

has agreed financing to recommence production

of the heavy lift Sikorsky Super Stallion. Sterling

Machine is a welcome addition to the Group.

Automotive

In both Europe and North America, automotive

markets were flat in 2005.Within these markets,

diesel engined vehicles in Europe continued to gain

market share as common rail diesel technology

became available to most engine assemblers.

This high pressure fuel technology increases power

output, reduces noise and vibration, improves fuel

consumption and helps meet emission standards

which authorities around the world continue to

tighten. In North America, the rise in fuel prices

during 2005 precipitated a switch from large

sports utility vehicles to smaller regular passenger

cars. Fortunately, the Group’s products in

production today are more likely to be fitted

on the latter rather than the former. In addition,

the “Big 3” continued to have their market share

eroded by the Japanese and Korean assemblers.

These two factors resulted in some distress in 

the industry with General Motors, Ford and

Daimler Chrysler announcing rationalisations,

cost reductions and plant closures.

In Senior Automotive, material price pressures

slackened somewhat in 2005 compared to 2004

when the industry had witnessed dramatic price

increases in a variety of metals. Senior almost

exclusively uses varieties of stainless steels where

price increases of its component metals (nickel,

molybdenum, cobalt etc.) had led to the need to

negotiate surcharge mechanisms with both raw

material suppliers and customers.The supply chain in

the industry now has surcharge mechanisms in place

that largely address variations in raw material prices.

Investment by the Division over the last three

years in new product programmes is now bearing

fruit.The diesel engine manufacturers in the USA,

who build essentially for heavy truck assemblers,

have adopted common rail high pressure fuel

systems for their 2007 model year. It is currently

the most economic way to meet 2007 emission

standards.Today, the Division has little exposure

to heavy trucks but, by 2007, sales in this sector

will increase substantially and the dependence upon

diesel engines, both large in the USA and small 

in Europe, will increase significantly.This will dilute

Senior’s exposure to regular passenger vehicles.

Industrial

In 2005, there were conflicting fortunes in

the Industrial Division.Trying to complete the

Wembley Stadium ducting contract on cost, and

on time, proved impossible on a very difficult site

where the main contractor, Multiplex, has regularly

reported on its own financial and operational

difficulties.The contract is near to completion with

the adverse financial impact of the contract being

recognised in the 2005 results. By contrast oil and

gas, in North America, has been a very healthy

market and looks set to continue as long as the

crude oil price remains high.Together with the

cost reductions affected in 2004, this helped the

performance of the Industrial Division improve

significantly in 2005, particularly at Pathway.

Operational Excellence

Throughout the Group, engineered products

are manufactured for large original equipment

assemblers. Consequently, demand levels in the

Group’s factories are a direct function of the

success of the Group’s customers in selling their

own products together with the dynamics of the

marketplaces themselves. In order to continue to

be a successful and growing business, the Group

remains committed to operational improvements,

cost reduction and value enhancement through

product and process design and development.

Operational excellence, impeccable customer

service and profitable pricing remain

core objectives.

These policies and improving markets leave

Senior well placed to grow in the future.

Chief Executive’s Statement
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Group Activities

Senior is a global engineering group, with

operations in 11 countries, principally serving

the aerospace and automotive markets.The

aerospace business is relatively evenly spread

across the large commercial, military and regional

jet marketplaces supplying both airframe, engine

and aerospace component manufacturers.

The Automotive Division principally produces

products using the Group’s flexible thin-walled

metal “Flexonics” technology supplying exhaust,

fuel, turbocharger, engine emission and cooling

parts to both the car assemblers themselves

and also their Tier 1 suppliers.The Group also

supplies a variety of industrial markets including

the oil and gas, chemical and HV AC industries.

Acquisition

Subsequent to the year-end, the Group completed

the acquisition of Sterling Machine Co., Inc.,

a US manufacturer of precision machined parts

for the aerospace industry. Sterling Machine 

is a pre-eminent manufacturer of transmission 

and rotor-head helicopter components for 

military platforms, principally to Sikorsky Aircraft

Corporation.The business operates from

a freehold site in Connecticut, USA. In 2005,

Sterling Machine reported sales of US$ 18.8m

and profit before interest and tax of US$ 4.2m.

The cash consideration, including assumed net

debt, was US$ 37.6m which was funded through

a combination of a placing of 15 million new

Senior plc shares at 60p each and utilisation of

the Group’s existing borrowing facilities.

Future Structure of the Group

Starting with the 2006 interim results, the 

plan is to present the Group as having two

divisions.The Senior Aerospace Division will 

have 11 subsidiaries, including the newly acquired

Sterling Machine, while a newly named Senior

Flexonics Division will include both the existing

eight automotive operations and the three

industrial operations.The reason for this move 

is threefold: the Group’s dependence upon

traditional automotive components is diminishing

with the increase in heavy duty diesel applications;

the Group already has an industry recognised

common brand in “Flexonics” and much common

technology across the automotive and industrial

market sectors;and the move to only two divisions

signifies the end of a period of rationalisation of

the Group and marks the beginning of a sustained

period of growth for Senior both as a result

of new products and expanding markets.

Changes in Accounting Policy

Companies listed on security exchanges within

the European Union were required to adopt

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

for accounting periods beginning on or after

31 December 2004. Accordingly, the Group’s 2005

Financial Statements represent the first time the

Group has reported under IFRS.The Company,

Senior plc, is also reporting under IFRS for the first

time. All comparative figures for 2004 have been

restated with Note 39 to the financial statements

explaining the effect of the transition to IFRS on

the balance sheets at the start and end of 2004

and the income statement for 2004.The most

significant effects relate to the non-amortisation

of goodwill, the non-accrual for period end

dividends and a change in the treatment of

previously written-off goodwill upon the disposal

of operations.The reconciliation at Note 39 shows

that other effects were minor with the Group

trading profit on continuing operations for 2004

being £0.3m lower under IFRS than previously

reported under UK GAAP.

Financial Performance of the Group

Sales

Total sales from continuing operations were

£338.6m compared to £306.8m in 2004, an

increase of £31.8m or 10.4%. Exchange rate

movements had little year-on-year impact

accounting for only £3.4m of the improvement.

The underlying improvement was widely spread

with each of the three divisions reporting

improved turnover levels.

Operating Profi t 

The Group’s operating profit on continuing

operations was £19.6m, an 18.1% increase 

on the £16.6m reported for 2004.This result

includes a loss on sale of fixed assets of £0.2m

(2004 – £0.5m profit) which, when added back,

results in a Group trading profit from continuing

operations of £19.8m.This is £3.7m or 23.0%

ahead of 2004’s £16.1m with only £0.3m of the

increase due to exchange rate movements. All

three divisions reported improved profitability.

Investment Income and Finance Costs

Investment income fell to £1.3m from £2.1m

in 2004 due to a one-off benefit in 2004 when

£0.8m of interest relating to a US tax refund

was received.

Finance costs remained relatively stable at £6.3m

(2004 – £6.2m) despite the slightly higher levels

of net debt in the year. Finance costs include

£1.1m (2004 – £1.2m) of net finance costs

in respect of retirement benefit obligations.

Profi t before Tax

Adjusted profit before tax (that arising from

continuing and discontinued businesses before

a £0.2m loss on disposal of fixed assets 

(2004 – £0.5m gain), £2.0m exchange gain on

long-term intercompany loans (2004 – £nil) and a

loss on disposal of discontinued businesses of £nil

(2004 – £4.8m)) increased by 18.4% to £14.8m

(2004 – £12.5m). Profit before tax on continuing

operations was £16.6m (2004 – £12.5m).

This includes the £2.0m gain (2004 – £nil) 

from foreign exchange movements on long-term

intercompany loans as required by IAS 21 

(“The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange

Rates”), as currently endorsed by the European

Union. It should be noted that an amendment 

to IAS 21 was issued in December 2005 which,

when endorsed by the European Union, will require

such foreign exchange differences to be taken

to reserves rather than the income statement.

Taxation

The total tax charge on continuing operations

increased to £2.5m (2004 – £1.6m).The effective

tax rate, expressed as a percentage of profit

before tax on continuing operations (excluding

the foreign exchange gain on intercompany loans)

was 17.1% (2004 – 12.8%).The low effective 

tax rate for 2004 benefited from £0.9m of

adjustments in respect of prior periods whereas

2005 benefited by only £0.5m.

Disposals

There were no disposals in the year. In 2004 a loss

of £4.4m was recognised in respect of discontinued

operations being a profit before tax of £0.5m less

tax of £0.1m and less the loss on disposal of £4.8m.

Earnings

Basic earnings per share from continuing

operations was 4.59p an increase of 28.9% 

over 2004 (3.56p), reflecting both the underlying

trading improvement and the £2.0m foreign

exchange gain on intercompany loans discussed

above. Adjusted earnings per share, the measure

which the Board believes best reflects the true

underlying performance of the business and

whose derivation is set out at Note 12 to the

financial statements, increased by 11.7% to 4.01p

(2004 – 3.59p). Adjusted earnings per share

exclude the effect of the disposal of businesses

Business Review 
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and fixed assets and also foreign exchange gains

or losses on long-term intercompany loans.

Dividend

As noted in the Chairman’s Statement, an

unchanged final dividend of 1.35p per share is

proposed.Together with the unchanged interim

dividend of 0.65p, the total dividend for 2005

will be 2.00p (2004 – 2.00p) assuming the final

dividend is approved.The total dividend is covered

2.0x (2004 – 1.8x) by adjusted earnings per share.

Cash Flow

2005 2004

£m £m

Net cash from operating activities 16.5 17.7

Interest received 1.4 2.5

Capital expenditure (16.6) (10.4)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 0.9 0.7

Free cash fl ow 2.2 10.5

Dividends paid (6.1) (6.1)

Acquisitions/disposals (0.1) 4.5

Share issues 0.5 –

Effect of exchange rates (7 .8) 4.7

Change in net borrowings (11.3) 13.6

New borrowings under IFRS (0.5) –

Opening net borrowings (50.6) (64.2)

Closing net borrowings (62.4) (50.6)

Free cash flow, as set out above and in Note 34(b)

to the financial statements, decreased from £10.5m

to £2.2m.This was largely due to an increase

of £6.2m in capital expenditure to £16.6m 

(2004 – £10.4m) with the increase arising in the

Automotive Division where capital expenditure

rose to £13.2m (2004 – £4.4m) as plant and

machinery began to be installed ready for the

manufacture of the new heavy duty diesel engine

products for North America which are scheduled

to go into production towards the end of 2006.

Net Borrowings

At the end of 2005, the Group had net

borrowings of £62.4m, an increase of £11.8m

in the year (31 December 2004 – £50.6m).

The increase was due in part to exchange

movements as well as increased capital

expenditure.The Group primarily finances its

borrowings through the US private placement

market in US dollars and through two revolving

credit facilities (one US dollar; one multi-currency).

The US dollar strengthened from $1.92:£1 at the

start of the year to $1.72:£1 at the end and this,

together with other currency movements, caused

£7.8m of the increase in net borrowings.

At the end of 2005 the Group had total borrowing

facilities of £138.3m, of which £119.2m were

committed facilities. £53.3m (2004 – £59.0m) 

of the committed facilities remained undrawn at

the end of the year. Gearing at the year-end was

68% (2004 – 61%) measured on total net assets

of £92.3m (2004 – £83.7m).

Shareholders’ Equity

The increase in total shareholders’ equity

of £8.6m in the year, to £92.3m, largely arose

from the £14.1m profit for the period less

the £6.1m of dividends paid. Also of note was

a £0.2m increase in share capital and a £0.3m

increase in the share premium account following

the exercise of options over 1.8 million shares

under employee share save schemes.

Divisional Review
Aerospace Division
£m 2005 2004 Change

Sales(i) 156.2 140.3 +11.3%

Trading profit(i) 13.0 11.2 +16.1%

Margin(i) 8.3% 8.0% –

(i)2004 results translated at 2005 exchange rates

In the Aerospace Division (ten operations 

in 2005), sales grew by 11.3% to £156.2m 

(2004 – £140.3m at constant currency). Recovery

in build rates within the industry helped this

growth along with new programmes coming 

on stream.Trading profit increased by 16.1% 

to £13.0m (2004 – £11.2m at constant currency)

as a result of the growth in revenue, maintained

control of spending and a continued focus on

process improvement and efficiency.The improved

operating margin of 8.3% (2004 – 8.0%) arose as a

result of better throughput in the factories partially

offset by the steady rise in raw material prices.

Whilst the large civil aircraft builders finished 2005

with record order-books, the smaller regional jet

builders recorded poor bookings in the year.

Business jet and defence and military demand

remained at a good level and a number of sectors,

military helicopters for instance, move into 2006

with growing order books.

Another important consequence of the ongoing

industry growth is the increasing opportunity for

the Division to take on work being outsourced

by the aircraft and engine assemblers as they seek

to free up manufacturing space at their own

factories. Bird Bellows benefited, during 2005,

from Airbus outsourcing some ducting parts,

whilst Ketema won outsourced engine parts from

Rolls-Royce which will add to sales from 2006

onwards. On the other hand, the decline in the

regional jet market impacted Ketema particularly

hard during 2005 and there is little sign of

recovery in this market. As well as benefiting

generally from the increase in aircraft build-rates,

the Division also saw improved performances as

a result of the business and factory rationalisations

carried out at Stainless Steel Products, in the USA,

and Bosman, in Holland, during the prior year.

Overall, the recent addition of Sterling Machine

and the generally healthy marketplace mean

prospects for the Aerospace Division should

remain positive for the foreseeable future.

Automotive Division
£m 2005 2004 Change

Sales(i) 135.9 125.1 +8.6%

Trading profit(i) 8.9 8.1 +9.9%

Margin(i) 6.5% 6.5% –

(i)2004 results translated at 2005 exchange rates

Despite the flat markets, sales in the Automotive

Division (eight operations) grew by 8.6% 

to £135.9m (2004 – £125.1m at constant

currency) and trading profits by 9.9% to £8.9m 

(2004 – £8.1m at constant currency) as new 

programmes came on stream at a number 

of locations.The operating margin remained

unchanged at 6.5% with the gearing benefit 

of the increase in sales offset by the additional

engineering resource and start-up costs associated

with bringing the new heavy duty diesel engine

parts into production at Bartlett, in the USA.

The lower cost operations in Brazil, India and

South Africa continued to perform well, with new

automotive programmes starting up in all three

locations. Sales in the Crumlin factory in Wales,

however, fell as MG Rover went into bankruptcy

and replacement exhaust programmes started

up in South Africa rather than Crumlin. More

positively, Crumlin’s newly developed EGR Cooler

for diesel engine passenger vehicles continues

to attract interest from a number of vehicle

manufacturers which may lead to orders being

placed in the coming months. As anticipated, the

French operation, having resolved its material

supply problems, made a profit in the second half

of the year after a difficult 2004 and its prospects

remain encouraging for 2006.

As mentioned previously in the Chief Executive’s

Statement, the introduction of the heavy duty
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diesel engine products in the USA remains firmly

on track with production scheduled to start in late

2006.To put these new products into production

requires substantial capital investment in new

capacity to be able to produce the necessary

volumes. Capital expenditure, at £13.2m for the

Division, was over double depreciation for the year,

and is expected to be at least this level in 2006.

The sales are scheduled to come through in 2007.

With such a large number of new products

being introduced and the associated plant and

equipment being installed, 2006 is likely to bring

a number of challenges. 2007 is anticipated to

be the first year to benefit from the additional

volumes. Significant enquiries continue to be

received for opportunities beyond those already

booked which, together with growing volumes

at a number of other locations, leave the Division

well placed for growth from 2007 onwards.

Industrial Division
£m 2005 2004 Change

Sales(i) 47.8 45.4 +5.3%

Trading profit(i) 2.2 0.9 +144%

Margin(i) 4.6% 2.0% –

(i)2004 results translated at 2005 exchange rates

Sales in the Industrial Division (three operations)

increased by 5.3% to £47.8m (2004 – £45.4m at

constant currency) with trading profits improving

to around two and a half times 2004 levels 

(2005 – £2.2m; 2004 – £0.9m at constant

currency).This significant improvement was

achieved despite Senior Hargreaves being

adversely impacted by the losses incurred on its

Wembley Stadium ducting contract as previously

described.Whilst the Canadian operation once

again improved its performance, the main driver

for the Divisional improvement was the larger

Pathway operation, in the USA, where improved

markets, such as oil and gas, and the site

consolidation and operational improvement

actions undertaken during 2004, drove its

performance well ahead of the break-even

position reported in 2004. Its markets remain

strong and, with the completion of Wembley

Stadium in the first half of 2006, the Division

can anticipate improved prospects for 2006.

Other Financial Matters

Financial Risk Management

The main financial risks faced by the Group

continue to be movements in interest rates and

foreign currency exchange rates as well as funding

and liquidity risks. All such risks are managed by a

centralised treasury department which reports to

the Group Finance Director. It operates under the

guidance of the Treasury Committee, which meets

quarterly and acts according to the laid-down

objectives, policies and authority levels approved

by the Board.The Group’s external auditors

normally attend the Treasury Committee once a

year. All activities are focused on the management

and hedging of risk and it is Group policy not to

engage in speculative financial transactions.

The Group is exposed to movements in

exchange rates for both foreign currency

transactions and the translation of net assets

and income statements of overseas operations.

The Group has a policy of hedging its net

investment in overseas operations through

currency denominated loans and forward

contracts but it does not hedge the effects

of currency movements on the translation

of its overseas earnings into sterling.Transaction

exposures are, however, normally hedged

through forward exchange contracts on a rolling

12 month basis. Changes in the fair value of

derivative financial instruments that are designated

and are effective as a cash flow hedge are

recognised through reserves with any ineffective

portion recognised in the income statement.

It is Group policy to have the majority of 

its gross borrowings subject to fixed rates 

of interest.This is achieved through having a

mixture of fixed and variable rate borrowings

and by entering into interest rate swaps.

Pensions

The Group operates a number of defined

benefit pension plans, with the largest being

the UK scheme, as well as a number of

geographically based defined contribution

and government sponsored arrangements.

At the end of 2005, total IAS 19 pension and

post-retirement net liabilities were £39.9m 

(2004 – £41.4m), a reduction of £1.5m 

(2004 – £2.8m) in the year.Whilst equity returns

were very strong, with the Group’s pension 

fund assets increasing by £11.0m more than

anticipated in the year, interest rates on long-

term index-linked government bonds fell such

that the liabilities of the Group’s pension

schemes, as calculated at the year-end, rose 

by £10.8m more than anticipated, effectively

cancelling out the increase in asset valuations.

The UK defined benefit scheme with around

5,200 members, 460 of which are active members,

accounted for the vast majority, £31.3m 

(2004 – £33.7m), of the Group’s total net pension

liabilities.The latest actuarial valuation of the UK

scheme was carried out during 2004 with the 

past service deficit calculated at that time as

£18.5m. From 2006 onwards this is being funded

by additional company contributions of £3.0m per

annum (2005 – £2.6m).The actuarial deficit for 

the UK scheme is lower than the IAS 19 deficit

primarily due to the different discount rates used

to value the liabilities.

In total, £1.8m (2004 – £2.0m) was charged to

the profit and loss account in the year in respect

of defined benefit schemes, in addition to the

£1.1m (2004 – £1.2m) of net finance costs

discussed earlier.The total charge for the Group’s

defined contribution schemes was £2.2m 

(2004 – £2.2m). Note 37 to the financial

statements provides comprehensive details 

of the Group’s pension plans.

Non-statutory Information

In the commentary to the year’s results

reference is made to non-statutory financial

information. Such information includes:

• Trading profit – this is used to illustrate the

underlying trading performance of the Group

and excludes any profit or loss on the sale

of fixed assets.The Consolidated Income

Statement provides the information

to reconcile this to operating profit.

• Adjusted earnings per share – this indicates the

overall performance of the Group before the

effect of the disposal of businesses and fixed

assets and foreign exchange gains or losses 

on long-term intercompany loans. Note 12 

to the financial statements reconciles this to

reported results.

• Free cash flow – this highlights the total net cash

generated by the Group prior to corporate

activity such as acquisitions, disposals and dividend

payments. Note 34(b) to the financial statements

reconciles this to the reported results.

Going Concern

Having assessed the future funding of the 

Group, the Directors are of the opinion that 

it is appropriate for the financial statements 

to be prepared on a going concern basis.

Business Review continued
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Board of Directors

1 James K err-Muir Non-Executive Chairman,

Age 65. Chairman of Davenham Group Holdings

plc, and of Hardys & Hansons plc. He is also a

non-executive director of Gartmore Fledgling

Trust plc. He joined the Board in 1996 and was

appointed Chairman in 2001. He is Chairman 

of the Nominations Committee and was

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 

until 31 January 2005.

2 Graham Menz ies Group Chief Executive,

Age 58. Joined as Group Chief Executive in

2000 previously having been with Adwest

Automotive plc for over 14 years, latterly 

as Chief Executive. He is a non-executive

director of UK Coal PLC and Heywood 

Williams Group PLC.

3 Mark Rollins Group Finance Director,

Age 43. A Chartered Accountant, he formerly 

held a number of senior corporate and

operational finance roles with Morgan Crucible plc.

He joined the Group in 1998 and became

Group Finance Director in 2000, when he 

joined the Board. He is Chairman of the Group’s

Treasury Committee. He was appointed a 

non-executive director of WSP Group plc 

in January 2006.

4 Michael Sheppard Executive Director,

Age 47. Joined the Board on 1 September 2002.

A citizen of the United States, he has worked

for Senior for a number of years, and is the

Chief Executive of the Automotive and North

American Industrial Division.

5 Martin Clark Non-Executive Director and

Senior Independent Director, Age 60. Joined 

the Board in 2001 and is also a non-executive

director of Clarkson plc and ICM Computer

Group PLC. He is Chairman of the Audit

Committee and of the Trustee Board of the

Senior plc Pension Plan. The Board considers

Martin Clark to be independent.

6 Ian Much Non-Executive Director,

Age 61. Joined the Board on 21 December 2005

and is also non-executive director of Chemring

Group plc, and was formerly Chief Executive 

of De La Rue plc.The Board considers Ian Much

to be independent.

Main Board

The main Board met a total of ten times during

the period 1 January 2005 to 31 December

2005.There was full attendance at every Board

Meeting during the year.

Audit Committee

Martin Clark (Chairman), Gordon Campbell 

to 30 November 2005, and Ian Much from 

21 December 2005. Met four times during 

the year.

Remuneration Committee

Ian Much (Chairman since 21 December 2005),

Martin Clark, and Gordon Campbell to 

30 November 2005. James Kerr-Muir resigned

from the Committee on 31 January 2005.

Gordon Campbell was Chairman from 31 January

2005 until he resigned from the Committee 

on 30 November 2005. Met three times during 

the year.

Nominations Committee

James Kerr-Muir (Chairman), Martin Clark, and

Gordon Campbell until 30 November 2005,

and Ian Much from 21 December 2005. Met

twice during the year.

Health, Safety &  Environment Committee

Graham Menzies (Chairman), Mike Sheppard 

and Ron Case (CEO Aerospace Division).

Its inaugural meeting was held in October 2005,

and it will meet on a quarterly basis.

There was full attendance at every Committee

of the Board during the year.

Gordon Campbell 

Non-Executive Director, Age 59. He resigned

from the Board on 30 November 2005. He was

also Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

until that date.The Board considered 

Gordon Campbell to be independent.

1

2

3

4

5

6
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report and supplementary reports, together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2005.

Activities and Business Review
Senior plc is a holding company. Its Principal Group Undertakings are shown on page 59 and comments on each Division’s results and activities in 2005 are
included in the Business Review on pages 4 to 6.

Acquisitions and Disposals
There were no disposals during the year. Sterling Machine Co., Inc. was acquired on 27 January 2006; details of the transaction are set out in Note 38 to the
Financial Statements on page 52.

Results and Dividends
The results for the year are shown in the Consolidated Income Statement on page 22.

An interim dividend of 0.65p per share (2004 – 0.65p) has already been paid and the Directors recommend a final dividend of 1.35p per share (2004 – 1.35p).
The final dividend, if approved, will be payable on 31 May 2006 to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 5 May 2006.This would bring the total
dividend for the year to 2.00p per share (2004 – 2.00p).

Share Capital
During 2005, 1,834,994 shares were allotted in respect of the Senior plc Savings Related Share Option Plan. A further 184,347 shares were allotted under 
the same Plan in January and February 2006. As at 31 December 2005 the issued share capital of the Company was 309,285,740 ordinary shares. 15,000,000
shares were allotted on 30 January 2006 as a result of a placing to partly finance the acquisition of Sterling Machine Co., Inc.

Further share capital details are given in Note 25 to the Financial Statements on page 43.

Directors
The Directors who served during the year and their interests in the shares of the Company are included in the Remuneration Report on pages 10 to 15.
None of the Directors has any interest in contracts with the Company or its subsidiary undertakings.

G A Campbell resigned from the Board on 30 November 2005. I F R Much was appointed to the Board on 21 December 2005. He retires in accordance with
Article 82 and, being eligible, offers himself for election. M Rollins and M Sheppard retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
AGM. I F R Much has no service agreement with the Company and M Rollins and M Sheppard have service agreements, subject to 12 months’ notice by 
either party.

Research and Development
In 2005, the Group incurred £8.3m (2004 – £8.7m) on research and development, before recoveries from customers of £0.6m (2004 – £0.8m).The majority 
of the Group’s efforts are devoted towards product development and improved manufacturing techniques.

Charitable and Political Donations
During the year the Group made charitable donations amounting to £53,000 (2004 – £22,000), principally to local charities serving the communities in which 
the Group operates. Included within this amount, the Company made a donation of £20,000 to the Disasters Emergency Committee’s Tsunami Earthquake
Appeal. No political donations were made.

Policy on Payment of Creditors
The Group’s policy is to settle the terms of payment with its suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction and to seek to adhere to those terms. Based
on the ratio of Company trade creditors at the end of the year to the amounts invoiced during the year by suppliers, the number of days outstanding at the
year-end was 37 days (2004 – 37 days).

Major Shareholdings
At 1 March 2006, the following shareholders had advised holdings in excess of 3% of the issued share capital of the Company:

Schroder Investment Management 33,694,012 10.38%
Legal & General Investment Management 15,839,411 4.88%
Deutsche Asset Management 13,706,031 4.22%
Aegon Asset Management 13,534,400 4.17%
HBOS 12,361,671 3.81%
Morley Fund Management 11,745,657 3.62%
Hermes Pensions Management 11,067,380 3.41%
Barclays Global Investors 10,044,829 3.10%

So far as is known, no other shareholder had a notifiable interest amounting to 3% or more of the share capital of the Company and the Directors believe that
the close company provisions of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (as amended) do not apply to the Company.
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Compliance with the 2003 FRC Code
Statements of compliance with the 2003 FRC Code and on internal controls are set out on page 20. For the purposes of the 2003 FRC Code, the Company
is a “smaller company” and therefore is required to have at least two independent non-executive Directors. Excluding the Chairman, the Company had two
independent non-executive Directors throughout the year, except for the three week period between 30 November 2005 (when G A Campbell resigned
from the Board) and 21 December 2005 (when I F R Much was appointed to the Board as a non-executive Director).

Remuneration Report
The Company’s policy on executive Directors’ remuneration is set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 10 to 15.The Remuneration Report is to be
put to shareholder vote at the Annual General Meeting on 28 April 2006.

Annual General Meeting
The Notice of Meeting describes the business to be considered at the Annual General Meeting to be held on Friday 28 April 2006 at ABN Amro,
250 Bishopsgate, London EC2M 4AA at 11.30 am.

Auditors
A resolution to re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Company’s auditor will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board
Andrew Bodenham, Secretary
1 March 2006
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Remuneration Report

The Directors present their Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 December 2005 in accordance with the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations
2002 and the relevant provisions of the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority. The report also describes how the Board has applied the Principles of
Good Governance relating to Directors’ Remuneration.

Composition of the Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee consists entirely of non-executive Directors. M Clark was a member of the Committee throughout the year. G A Campbell was 
a member of the Committee to 30 November 2005; and took over as Chairman of the Committee on 31 January 2005. I F R Much has been Chairman of the
Committee since his appointment on 21 December 2005. Given the retirement of R T Turner during 2004 the Board considered that it would be in the best
interest of shareholders for J R Kerr-Muir to remain on the Remuneration Committee to provide continuity during a period of transition. J R Kerr-Muir resigned
from the Remuneration Committee on 31 January 2005.

Role of the Remuneration Committee
The primary role of the Committee is to consider and make recommendations to the Board concerning the remuneration packages and conditions of service of
the executive Directors and approximately 90 other senior managers.The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee may be found on the Company’s
website. During the financial year the Committee met three times. Details of Directors’ attendance at these meetings are disclosed on page 7.

Advisers to the Remuneration Committee
All advisers to the Remuneration Committee are appointed and instructed by the Committee. During the year, the Committee was advised by New Bridge
Street Consultants, in relation to the introduction of a new share incentive plan, and by the Group Company Secretary.

Remuneration Policy
In determining remuneration of the executive Directors, the Committee seeks to maintain a competitive programme, which enables the Company to attract 
and retain the highest calibre of executive.The performance-related elements of remuneration form a significant proportion of the total remuneration package 
of executive Directors, details of which are set out in paragraphs (c) and (d) below.They are designed to align their interests with those of shareholders and 
to give such executive Directors incentives to perform at the highest levels.

The non-executive Directors do not participate in any pension, bonus, share incentive or other share option plans.Their remuneration reflects both the time
given and the contribution made by them to the Company’s affairs, including membership or chairmanship of the Board or its Committees.The remuneration 
of the non-executive Directors is determined by the Board of Directors.The non-executive Directors do not participate in any discussion or decisions relating 
to their own remuneration.

Before recommending proposals for Board approval, the Remuneration Committee may seek advice from external remuneration consultants to ensure it is fully
aware of comparative external remuneration practice as well as legislative and regulatory developments.The services of remuneration consultants were not used
in determining the 2005 salaries.

a) Service Agreements
Each executive Director has a service agreement providing for a rolling period of notice of one year.There are no provisions in those agreements or otherwise
for additional termination payments.The service agreements for G R Menzies, M Rollins and M Sheppard are dated 27 April 2000, 1 November 2000 and 
4 February 2004, respectively.The agreements contain provisions requiring the relevant Director to mitigate his loss in the event of termination. G R Menzies’
agreement (the terms of which remain unchanged since his appointment) provides that in the event of a change of control of the Company, he has the option 
to resign within three months of such change of control without a duty to mitigate.

The non-executive Directors do not have service agreements with the Company. J R Kerr-Muir was appointed Chairman with effect from 11 May 2001. His contract
is terminable upon 12 months’ notice by either party on or after the third anniversary. M Clark was appointed with effect from 1 February 2001 for an initial three
year term, which was renewed for a further three year term with effect from 1 February 2004. G A Campbell resigned from the Board on 30 November 2005.
I F R Much was appointed with effect from 21 December 2005 for an initial three year term.

With prior approval of the Board, executive Directors may hold external non-executive directorships and retain any fees paid for these appointments. At the 
year-end, G R Menzies held two such positions. M Rollins has held a non-executive directorship from January 2006.

b) Base Salaries
In setting the base salary of each Director, the Committee takes into account the pay practice of other companies and the performance of that Director.
The Committee is also responsible for ratifying the salaries of approximately 90 senior managers and therefore is fully cognisant of pay levels in the Group 
when determining the pay of the executive Directors.The base salary for G R Menzies for 2005 remained the same as his 2004 salary as he now holds two
non-executive directorships for which he retains the fees (rather than one, as had been the case for most of 2004). In 2005, G R Menzies received non-executive
directorship fees of £62,000. M Rollins and M Sheppard received inflationary increases to their 2004 base salaries of 2.7% and 3.5% respectively.The base salary
for M Rollins for 2006 is to remain the same as his 2005 salary as, from January 2006, he now holds a non-executive directorship for which he retains the fees.
G R Menzies and M Sheppard received inflationary increases to their 2005 base salaries of 2.9% and 3.4% respectively.The 2006 fees for J R Kerr-Muir and 
M Clark increased by £6,000 each to £78,000 p.a. and £40,000 p.a. respectively; the first increases since 2002.



c) Annual Performance Bonus Scheme
Under the performance bonus scheme, bonuses up to 60% (2004 – up to 60%) of basic salary could be earned by the executive Directors depending on 
the Group’s actual performance compared to the prior year and to internal targets in respect of underlying earnings per share and cash flow.The table below
provides details of the maximum possible awards for 2005 together with details of the bonuses paid to G R Menzies and M Rollins as a percentage of their
respective salaries:

Earnings per
Cash flow target share target

Internal Year-on-year
Interim Full year target growth Total

% % % % %

Maximum possible award for 2005 and 2004 6.0 9.0 20.0 25.0 60.0

2004 bonus paid 4.2 7.1 1.0 3.7 16.0

2005 bonus paid 5.9 8.3 15.8 9.8 39.8

As M Sheppard serves as a Director of the Company, in addition to his role as Chief Executive of the Automotive and North American Industrial Division,
his bonus for the year was 80% dependent on the operating profits and cash flow performance of the Automotive and North American Industrial Division 
and 20% on Group performance. In 2005 he earned a bonus of 51.5% of salary (2004 – 12.9%) consisting of 43.5% for Divisional performance and 8.0% for
Group performance.

The scheme in place for 2006 is unchanged from the 2005 scheme.

d) Share Plans
The Company’s policy regarding the granting of share options is to encourage participating Directors and other employees to build and retain a long-term stake
in the Group and align their interests with those of the shareholders.

All executive Directors are, or were, eligible to participate in the following share plans:

i) 1999 Executive Share Option Plan (“the 1999 Plan”) (closed for new awards)
No more options are to be granted under the 1999 Plan following shareholder approval of the Senior plc 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan at the 2005 AGM.

The 1999 Plan, which was open to executive Directors and other senior managers, was launched following its approval by shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting in May 1999 with the performance target determined by the Remuneration Committee to be challenging in the light of the Company’s performance
and prevailing financial circumstances at the time. Any performance target must be no less challenging than the one it replaces.

The maximum number of shares over which options could be awarded to a participant was subject to their value at the time of grant not exceeding:

a. 100% of the Director’s basic salary at the time of the award;

b. 125% of the Director’s basic salary taking into account the combined notional current value of all awards under the Long Term Share Incentive Plan and
awards under the 1999 Plan in any year ; and

c. the £30,000 statutory limit for the Approved Option element of the 1999 Plan.

The total value of options under the 1999 Plan and any earlier executive share option schemes, to subscribe for new issue shares granted in any ten year
period could not exceed 4 x current annual basic salary or, if higher, remuneration excluding benefits in kind over the previous 12 months.Where options had
already been exercised, further “replacement” options could be granted provided that the market value of all outstanding options did not exceed 4 x current
annual basic salary or, if higher, remuneration (excluding benefits in kind) over the previous 12 months.

All options granted under this 1999 Plan to date will, in normal circumstances, only become exercisable if the Group’s underlying earnings per share grows by not
less than 4% p.a. compound above the growth in the UK Retail Prices Index over a period of three or more financial years. If not exercised within six years of the
date of grant the options will lapse.

Options granted to the Directors are shown under Directors’ Interests together with the base underlying earnings per share figure to be used when determining
whether the performance target has been met.

ii) Long Term Share Incentive Plan (closed for new awards)
Following approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in May 1996, the Long Term Share Incentive Plan was launched with a five year life which was
subsequently extended for a further ten years at the May 2001 Annual General Meeting. No more awards are to be made under the Long Term Share Incentive
Plan following shareholder approval of the Senior plc 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan at the 2005 AGM.

The maximum aggregate value of awards that could be made to an employee in any financial year was 60% of a participant’s basic salary at the date of the
award. In October 2001, awards, under the new performance criteria, were made to the executive Directors and are shown on page 14 under Directors’
Interests, together with the base underlying earnings per share figure to be used in determining whether the performance target has been met.These were the
only outstanding awards under the Long Term Share Incentive Plan and lapsed on 30 October 2005 as the performance requirement has not been achieved.

iii) Savings Related Share Option Plan
The Company’s Savings Related Share Option Plan was first launched in 1996 to eligible employees across the Group.There are no performance criteria for 
this arrangement and options are issued to all participants in accordance with the Inland Revenue rules for such savings related plans. As employees, executive
Directors are eligible to participate and their options under the Plan are on page 14 below under Directors’ Interests.
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iv) Senior plc 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan ('the 2005 LTIP')
At the 2005 AGM, shareholders approved the adoption of the 2005 LTIP, a new long term share incentive plan to replace the existing 1999 Plan and the Long
Term Share Incentive Plan.

The Remuneration Committee considers that the 2005 LTIP (the main details of which are set out below) will bring Senior’s arrangements more in line with
current practice and the evolving views of investors, and provide a better link between senior management performance and reward.

Each year, an individual could receive an award worth up to 100% of annual salary (or 200% of salary in the case of recruitment). The first awards under the
2005 LTIP were made on 20 May 2005 and were limited to 80% of salary. The awards are conditional allocations, where the executives will receive free ordinary
shares in the Company automatically on the vesting of their award. Awards will normally vest on, or shortly following, the third anniversary of grant once the
Committee has determined the extent to which the applicable performance conditions (see below) have been satisfied, and provided the participant is still
employed in the Company’s group.

All awards are subject to performance conditions set by the Committee. The 2005 LTIP is designed to reward senior executives partly for delivering superior
total shareholder return (“TSR”) performance and partly for achieving challenging earnings per share (“EPS”) growth targets. In each case, performance will be
measured over a three year performance period beginning on the first day of the financial year in which the award is made.The vesting of one half of each of
the initial awards will depend on the Company’s TSR performance compared to that of the members of the FTSE Small Cap Index (excluding investment trusts),
while the vesting of the other half of each award will depend on the growth of the Company’s adjusted EPS relative to RPI.

The vesting of the TSR-related half of the initial awards will be determined on the following basis:

Ranking of Company’s TSR compared with the FTSE Small Cap
Index (excluding investment trusts) over the performance period Percentage of TSR half of an award which vests

Below Median 0%

Median 25%

Upper Q uintile (top 20%) 100%

Between Median and Upper Q uintile Pro rata on a straight-line basis between 25% and 100%

TSR will be averaged over three months prior to the start and end of the performance period.

The vesting of the EPS-related half of an award will be determined on the following basis:

Company’s average annual adjusted EPS performance in excess of RPI Vesting percentage – EPS half of an award

Less than 5% p.a. 0%

5% p.a. 25%

12% p.a. 100%

Between 5% and 12% p.a. Pro rata on a straight-line basis between 25% and 100%

The Remuneration Committee encourages Directors to own shares and, in support of this policy, it expects Directors to retain at least 50% of the shares they
acquire under the 2005 LTIP, after allowing for tax liabilities, until a holding of 100% of base salary is built up.

e) Retirement Benefits
G R Menzies’ and M Rollins’ pension arrangements are provided by the Group’s UK plan and are based upon their pensionable salaries up to the Inland
Revenue’s “cap”. From 6 April 2006 (A-Day) the Group’s UK plan is to adopt its own earnings cap which shall be calculated on the same basis as the Inland
Revenue’s pre-A-Day “cap”. M Sheppard participates in a defined benefit plan that has now closed to new entrants and a defined contribution plan that remains
available to the Group’s US employees. His base salary is pensionable up to a “cap” of $210,000 p.a.

f) Other Benefits
There are non-cash benefits including provision of a fully expensed car and medical insurance.



Directors’ Emoluments
The information presented in the remainder of this report has been audited, with the exception of the Directors’ Interests in shares and the Total Shareholder
Return graph.

Directors’ emoluments

Salary or Bonus Taxable 2005 2004
fees benefits Total Total

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

Executive
G R Menzies 314 179 20 513 383
M Rollins 190 76 14 280 228
M Sheppard 162 83 16 261 190

Non-executive
J R Kerr-Muir 72 – – 72 72
M Clark 34 – – 34 34
I F R Much (from 21 December 2005) 1 – – 1 –
G A Campbell (to 30 November 2005) 25 – – 25 13
R T Turner (to 1 July 2004) – – – – 13

798 338 50 1,186 933

Bonuses as shown above are payable to M Rollins and M Sheppard under the Annual Performance Bonus scheme. G R Menzies’ bonus of £179k consisted of
£125k payable under the Annual Performance Bonus scheme and a payment of £54k as compensation for the diminution in value of his pension benefits due 
to the previously incorrect calculation of his pension entitlement.The above figures for emoluments do not include any amount for the value of share options 
or awards granted to, or held by, Directors.

Aggregate remuneration
2005 2004

£000’s £000’s

Emoluments 1,186 933
Gains on exercise of share options and incentives (see below) – –
Money purchase pension contributions 6 6

Total 1,192 939

In addition to setting the remuneration of the executive Directors, the Remuneration Committee oversees the remuneration of 90 other senior managers.
The table below shows the cumulative benefits of the three other Divisional directors and the three most senior Corporate managers:

Salary or Bonus Taxable 2005 2004
fees benefits Total Total

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

574 190 51 815 765

Directors’ Interests
The Directors who served during the year and their interests (which are all beneficial), including family interests, in the 10p ordinary shares of the Company
were as follows:

Shares
Shares Shares

2005 2004

G R Menzies 600,000 500,000
M Rollins 100,000 100,000
M Sheppard – –
J R Kerr-Muir 175,819 150,819
M Clark 50,000 50,000
I F R Much (appointed to the Board 21 December 2005) – –
G A Campbell (retired from the Board 30 November 2005) – –
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Options and other share incentives
Market

Gains on price on Exercise
exercise/ exercise/ period/

Date of At Granted Exercised vesting vesting Forefeited Lapsed At Option maturity
grant/award 31.12.04 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 31.12.05 price date

G R Menzies
1999 Executive Share Option Plan

05.04.00 227,272 – – – – – – 227,272 82.50p 3 years to 04.04.06
13.09.00 230,755 – – – – – – 230,755 54.17p 3 years to 12.09.06
12.03.03 1,019,552 – – – – – – 1,019,552 23.08p 3 years to 11.03.09

Sharesave Plan
06.10.00 38,793 – – – – – – 38,793 43.50p 6 months to 31.05.06

Long Term Share Incentive Plan – Performance Awards
31.10.01 270,000 – – – – – 270,000 – – 30.10.05

2005 Long Term Incentive Plan
20.05.05 – 619,753 – – – – – 619,753 – March 08

M Rollins
1999 Executive Share Option Plan

13.05.99 37,172 – – – – – 37,172 – 154.35p 3 years to 12.05.05
13.09.00 276,906 – – – – – – 276,906 54.17p 3 years to 12.09.06
12.03.03 521,014 – – – – – – 521,014 23.08p 3 years to 11.03.09

Long Term Share Incentive Award Plan – Performance Awards
31.10.01 180,000 – – – – – 180,000 – – 30.10.05

2005 Long Term Incentive Plan 
20.05.05 – 375,308 – – – – – 375,308 – March 08

M Sheppard 
1999 Executive Share Option Plan

13.05.99 48,924 – – – – – 48,924 – 154.35p 3 years to 12.05.05
13.09.00 328,173 – – – – – – 328,173 54.17p 3 years to 12.09.06
12.03.03 499,747 – – – – – – 499,747 23.08p 3 years to 11.03.09

Long Term Share Incentive Plan – Performance Awards
31.10.01 180,000 – – – – – 180,000 – – 30.10.05

2005 Long Term Incentive Plan
20.05.05 – 316,693 – – – – – 316,693 – March 08

The market price of the Company’s shares on 20 May 2005, the date of the award under the 2005 LTIP, was 40.25p.

Details of the share schemes referred to in the above table may be found on pages 11 and 12.

Options granted from 1999 onwards and awards under the 2005 LTIP become exercisable only when certain performance targets have been met.The base
underlying earnings per share figures used to determine whether the target has been met are as follows:

Date of grant 05.04.00 13.09.00 12.03.03 20.05.05

Base underlying EPS 6.03p 6.03p 4.47p 3.59p

The total net value of the Directors’ unexercised options at 31 December 2005 (excluding awards under the 2005 LTIP), all of which were unexercisable, except
for G R Menzies’ option granted under the Sharesave Plan, was £793,839 (2004 – £355,423) representing options held by G R Menzies (£389,827), M Rollins
(£204,512) and M Sheppard (£199,499).The net value of unexercised options is the positive difference between the closing middle market price of the Company’s
shares at the year-end (59.50p per share) and the exercise price of the options. It does not take into account the likelihood of the performance targets being met.

At 31 December 2005, 870,716 ordinary shares (2004 – 870,716 ordinary shares) were held by the Senior plc Employee Benefit Trust, a discretionary trust
resident in Jersey.The market value of these shares at 31 December 2005 was £518,076 (2004 – £353,000).The Trust has materially waived its rights to
dividends on these shares. As the award under the Long Term Share Incentive Plan lapsed during the year, the executive Directors are no longer collectively
interested in these shares.

Dividends do not accrue on shares that vest under the 2005 LTIP arrangements and are not credited to share option awards under the 1999 Plan.The
Remuneration Committee notes the introduction of International Accounting Standard 33 “Earnings per Share”, and confirms that any change to the presentation
of the EPS performance targets for the Company’s share schemes will not result in any less stringent performance targets applying to the existing share awards.



This graph compares the Total Shareholder Return of 
the Company’s shares against the FTSE Industrial Engineering
Index and the FTSE Small Cap Index over a five-year period
(where dividends are included gross of tax).This index allows 
a comparison to be made against organisations facing broadly
similar economic and market conditions as the Company.

The closing middle market price of the shares at 31 December 2005 was 59.50p (2004 – 40.50p). During 2005 the shares traded in the range of 40.25p to 62.00p.

Directors’ Pension Entitlements
The Directors had accrued entitlements under final salary plans as follows:

Gross Increase in Total V alue of net Change in Transfer value Transfer value
increase in accrued accrued increase in transfer value of accrued of accrued

accrued pension net pension accrual over during pension pension
pension of inflation at 31.12.05 period period at 31.12.05 at 31.12.04

(A) (B) (C) (D) (E) (F) (G)
£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

G R Menzies 4 4 20 62 108 393 277
M Rollins 4 3 19 24 57 198 133
M Sheppard 3 2 33 4 10 62 47

Total 11 9 72 90 175 653 457

1.The pension entitlement shown is that which would be paid annually on retirement based on service to, and final pensionable salary at, 31 December 2005.

2.The gross increase in accrued pension during the year (A) includes an increase for inflation; the net increase in accrued pension (B) excludes any 
such increase.

3.The transfer values have been calculated in accordance with version 9.2 of Guidance Note GN11 issued by the actuarial profession.

4. Any Additional Voluntary Contributions paid by the Directors and the resulting benefits are not shown.

5.The figures quoted above for M Sheppard are in respect of the defined benefit element of his pension only. In addition, he has a defined contribution
arrangement, to which he paid $11,000 and the Company paid $10,000 during the year.

6.The transfer value of net increase (D) represents the incremental value to the Director of his service during the year, calculated assuming service terminated at
the year-end. It is based on the accrued pension increase (B) and is quoted after deducting the Director’s contribution.

7.The change in the transfer value (E) includes the effect of fluctuations in the transfer value due to factors beyond the control of the Company and Directors,
such as stock market movements. It is quoted after deducting the Director’s contribution.

Shareholder approval for the Remuneration Report
The Company is proposing an ordinary resolution to its shareholders approving this Remuneration Report.

This report was approved by the Board on 1 March 2006 and signed on its behalf by:

I F R Much
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
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Corporate Social Responsibility Report

Principles
Th e policy  of th e B oard  is  to enh ance sh areh old er v alue in an eth ical and  socially  respons ib le manner w h ils t seek ing  to preserv e h ealth , safety  and  th e
env ironment.Th e B oard  b eliev es th at operating  in such  a w ay  is  an integ ral part of efficient and  profitab le b us iness manag ement, and  recog nises th at success
in th ese areas d epend s on th e inv olv ement and  commitment of ev eryone in th e org anisation.

As a minimum, th e G roup operations around  th e w orld  are req uired  to meet th eir leg al and  reg ulatory  ob lig ations.Th is policy  is rev iew ed  annually  for v alid ity
and  is rev ised  and  reissued  as necessary.

Goals
a) Ethical Operations
Applications for employment b y  d isab led  persons are encourag ed , b earing  in mind  th e respectiv e aptitud es, sk ills and  ab ilities of th e applicant concerned  and  th e
req uirements of th e position. In th e ev ent of employees b ecoming  d isab led , th e G roup’s aim is to ensure continued  employment w h ere possib le and  to arrang e
appropriate training . It is th e policy  of th e G roup to maintain, w h erev er feasib le, th e training , career d ev elopment and  promotion of d isab led  persons.

G roup policy  is th at employment-related  d ecis ions are b ased  on relev ant aptitud es, sk ills and  ab ilities, and  promote a policy  of eq ual opportunity  in employment,
w ith out unlaw ful consid eration of sex , race,nationality, ag e, d isab ility, relig ion or any  oth er categ ory  protected  b y  law .

Th e G roup promotes th e d issemination of relev ant information so th at employees are k ept reg ularly  ad v ised  of G roup and  operating  company  d ev elopments.
W h ere practical, local b riefing  sess ions are h eld  concerning  such  matters as h ealth  and  safety, pension plans, etc.

Th ere is a formal Cod e of B usiness Cond uct in place for th e G roup, w h ich  promotes a commitment to maintaining  th e h ig h est stand ard  of eth ics and  integ rity  in
th e cond uct of th e G roup’s b usiness th roug h out th e w orld .Th is Cod e includ es req uirements for th e personal cond uct of G roup employees, includ ing  specifically
conflict of interest, b usiness g ifts, and  b rib ery  and  corruption.Th e Cod e d oes not permit employees to mak e contrib utions to political parties,or org anisations,
or cand id ates for pub lic office, w ith  a v iew  to g aining  any  ad v antag e.

Th e Company  h as a W h istle B low ing  P olicy  th at is communicated  th roug h out th e G roup.Th is P olicy  prov id es employees w ith  th e opportunity  to report uneth ical
or illeg al corporate cond uct.M Clark  is th e Company ’s Senior Ind epend ent Director; h is position prov id es sh areh old ers w ith  an alternativ e ch annel of communication
if th ey  h av e concerns th at th e Ch airman,Ch ief Ex ecutiv e or Finance Director h as failed  to resolv e,or for w h ich  such  contact is inappropriate.

b) Socially Aware Operations
Th e manag ement of each  operation in th e G roup is aw are of th e importance of b eing  a g ood  neig h b our in its community  and  is encourag ed  to b uild  a relationsh ip
w ith  local org anisations.

Each  operation w ith in th e G roup look s to offer a competitiv e remuneration pack ag e to its employees w h ich  assists in th e retention of its sk illed  w ork force. In
ad d ition,each  operation aims to recog nise and  respond  constructiv ely  to any  community  concerns ab out th e H ealth ,Safety  & Env ironmental aspects of its operation.

c) Health, Safety & Environment
Th e B oard  as a w h ole tak es an activ e interest in ensuring  th at all of its operations prov id e a safe w ork ing  env ironment for its employees. In ord er to enh ance 
th e G roup’s efforts in manag ing  H ealth , Safety  & Env ironmental issues, a new  committee of th e B oard  w as created  d uring  th e y ear: th e H ealth , Safety  &
Env ironment (“H SE”) Committee.Th e H SE Committee is ch aired  b y  G  R Menz ies (G roup Ch ief Ex ecutiv e), w ith  M Sh eppard  (CEO  Automotiv e & N orth
American Ind ustrial) and  R Case (CEO  Aerospace Div ision),as its oth er memb ers.Th e Committee’s terms of reference can b e found  on th e Company ’s w eb site.

Th e H SE Committee sits on a q uarterly  b as is and  is responsib le for formulating  th e G roup’s H SE strateg y  and  ob jectiv es, for measuring  th e G roup’s H SE
performance ag ainst th ese ob jectiv es, and  for ensuring  th at k ey  H SE risk s and  issues are effectiv ely  id entified  and  manag ed .

A new  post of G roup H ealth , Safety  & Env ironment Manag er w as created  to facilitate th e effectiv e implementation of th e H SE Committee’s strateg y  and
ob jectiv es.Th e successful cand id ate w as appointed  in Decemb er 2005, and  is d ue to tak e up h is post in March  2006.

Th e B oard  also rev iew s th e q uarterly  h ealth  and  safety  performance of all th e G roup’s operations,on b oth  an ab solute and  relativ e b asis.Th e ex ecutiv e Directors,
tog eth er w ith  th e CEO s of th e local operations, are responsib le for d eliv ering  improv ed  H SE performance.

Th e G roup’s operations promote employee inv olv ement in H SE matters, b y  open communication and  encourag ement of activ e participation.

Each  operation aims to prov id e sufficient resources in terms of people, training , plant and  eq uipment to meet applicab le h ealth  and  safety  ob lig ations.

Th e G roup’s operations continue to w ork  on improv ing  th eir h ealth  and  safety  performance th roug h , for ex ample, training , th e use of internal assessments and
reg ular reports on performance.

d) Environment
W h ile alread y  sub ject to v arious law s and  reg ulations g ov erning  th e emiss ion of sub stances w h ich  could  affect h uman h ealth  or th e env ironment, each  operation
ex amines d ifferent means b y  w h ich  to red uce furth er such  emiss ions.

Th e G roup striv es b oth  to red uce w aste at source b y  careful use of materials, energ y  and  oth er resources, and  to tak e ad v antag e of recy cling  opportunities.
Each  operation consid ers, early  in th e d ev elopment stag e, th e possib le env ironmental impact of new  prod ucts and  processes, and  th e G roup carefully  consid ers
env ironmental issues d uring  acq uis itions and  d iv estments.

Each  operation aims to prov id e resources in terms of people, training , plant and  eq uipment to meet applicab le env ironmental ob lig ations.

Th e G roup’s operations continue to w ork  on improv ing  env ironmental performance th roug h , among  oth er th ing s, training , th e use of internal assessments and
reg ular reports on performance.



Four of the Group’s Automotive operations, which represent almost a third of the Group’s turnover, have successfully obtained ISO14001, the international
environmental accreditation.The HSE Committee has given further impetus to improving the Group’s environmental performance by targeting the remaining
operations in the Group to be compliant with ISO14001 in the near term.

Organisation and Responsibilities
Operating in an ethical and socially aware manner which preserves health, safety and the environment is a mainstream management responsibility. The Group
Chief Executive, as Chairman of the HSE Committee, leads the Board’s efforts in improving the Group’s ethical, social, Health, Safety & Environmental
performance, and is also responsible for external stakeholder issues. Executive and line managers at all levels within the Group are directly responsible, through
the normal management structure, for these matters in the specific operations under their control.

All of the Group’s employees have a responsibility to act in an ethical and socially aware manner, to take reasonable care of themselves and others while at work,
and to participate positively in the task of preserving workplace health and safety, and the environment.

Each operation is expected to adopt policies in keeping with these principles and goals, which also describe the local organisation and to make arrangements 
for putting them into practice. Each operation has a person appointed to this task, who is responsible to the General Manager for the implementation of these
principles and goals.

Ethical, social, Health, Safety & Environmental factors can represent risks to the Group’s short and long-term value, as well as opportunities to enhance value that
may arise from an appropriate response.The Board has established reporting structures in place to provide it with information on such risks and opportunities, as
listed below:

• Ethical, social, Health, Safety & Environmental issues that represent significant business risk or opportunity are monitored and reported as part of the risk
management process initiated following the Turnbull Report on corporate risk management, as described in the Corporate Governance Report.The Risk
Management process adopted includes procedures for monitoring, and verification of matters reported.

• Other important ethical, social, Health, Safety & Environmental matters are reported to the Group’s Executive Committee and to the Board on a regular basis,
by the Group’s Divisional Directors, as part of their reports on operational matters.

The Group continues to work closely with its employees, local works councils, and trade unions, where applicable. It values its employees and encourages 
long-term commitment by promoting job security and appropriate training packages for employees at all levels.

Customers and Suppliers
The nature of the businesses in which the Group operates relies heavily on forming close and long-term relationships with both its customers and suppliers.
Generally, these relationships are managed at a local level, with Divisional support.
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This Corporate Governance Report describes the manner in which the Company has applied the Principles of Good Governance set out in Section 1 of the
Combined Code on Corporate Governance and whether or not it has complied with the Code provisions. In July 2003, the Financial Reporting Council issued
the “Combined Code on Corporate Governance” known as the “2003 FRC Code”, in response to the Higgs Review on Non-executive Directors and the Smith
Review on Audit Committees.

Application of the Principles
The Principles of Good Corporate Governance are detailed in the 2003 FRC Code under four areas which have each been reviewed by the Directors and then
commented upon below:

a) Directors
The Board is structured under a non-executive Chairman, and currently includes three executive Directors and two other non-executive independent Directors
who were selected for appointment because of their wide industrial and commercial experience. In addition, there is a Group Executive Committee, chaired 
by the Group Chief Executive which is comprised of the executive Directors and other key executives within the Group. Brief details of the Board are included
on page 7 .

The Directors consider that there is in place an effective Board which leads and controls the Group, with clear divisions of responsibility between running the
Board and running the Group’s businesses.The Board is responsible for the strategic decisions regarding the Group, including the setting of commercial strategy
and approval of Group budgets and financial statements. It also approves significant financial and contractual commitments made by the Group.The Board’s
Terms of Reference more fully describe the responsibilities of the Board, and may be found on the Company’s website.

The Board delegates certain of its responsibilities to the Audit, Remuneration, Nominations, and Health, Safety & Environment (“HSE”) Committees.The Group
Chief Executive, together with the Group Executive Committee, is responsible for the implementation of the decisions made by the Board, and for the 
day-to-day conduct of the Group’s operations.

The Board meets formally on a regular basis (ten times in 2005); and in addition there were four meetings of the Audit Committee in 2005, together with
three meetings of the Remuneration Committee, two meetings of the Nominations Committee and the inaugural meeting of the HSE Committee during the
year.There was full attendance at every Board meeting and Committee of the Board during the year. Other Committees are appointed by the Board to deal
with treasury matters and specific issues such as acquisitions and disposals.The minutes arising from the Committee Meetings are available to the Board.

Procedures are in place to ensure that the Directors are properly briefed so that the decisions taken by the Board are based on the fullest available information.
At every Board Meeting there are reviews of operational, financial and administrative matters. Health, Safety & Environmental performance is reviewed by the
Board on at least a quarterly basis; while social and ethical issues, agreement of budgets and levels of insurance cover are reviewed whenever appropriate.

There is a procedure by which all Directors can obtain independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in furtherance of their duties, if required.

Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee leads the process for Board appointments, and supervises management development and succession plans; it also makes recommendations
to the Board on all new Board appointments.The Committee, which consists entirely of non-executive Directors, is chaired by J R K err-Muir, and its composition 
is shown on page 7 . Its Terms of Reference may be found on the Company’s website.

The appointment of new non-executive Directors to the Board is controlled by the Committee, assisted by appropriate external recruitment consultants.
In conjunction with the external consultant, consideration is given to the role and the capabilities required for a particular appointment. Based on agreed
criteria, the consultant then produces a shortlist of candidates.The Committee members interview these candidates, then present their recommendation to the
Board. Consideration is also given to the number of other posts held by the candidates, and their ability to devote sufficient time to discharge their duty as a
non-executive Director. I F R Much was appointed to the Board during the year.The Nominations Committee followed the above procedures and determined
that he was the best candidate for the post, and would complement the skills, knowledge and experience of the other Directors.

During the year, the Board undertook a formal performance evaluation process to evaluate its own performance, and that of its Committees and individual
Directors; this involved the completion and review of performance assessment questionnaires, and appraisal interviews.The results of the evaluation process 
are used to improve Board performance and to determine the training needs of the Directors. M Clark and G A Campbell, in consultation with the executive
Directors, undertook an evaluation of the Chairman’s performance, and concluded that J R K err-Muir continued to provide effective leadership of the Board.
Based on the results of the performance evaluation process, the Chairman considers that each member of the Board, the Board collectively, and its Committees
continue to contribute effectively to the running of the Company.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles, Directors submit themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting following their appointment and thereafter
at intervals of no more than three years.

b) Directors’ Remuneration
The Remuneration Report on pages 10 to 15 describes how the Board has applied itself to remuneration matters.

c) Accountability and Audit
This section of the Corporate Governance Report describes the role of the Audit Committee and the manner in which it discharges its responsibilities.
The Audit Committee’s Terms of Reference may be found on the Company’s website.

Comp osition of th e A u d it Committee
The composition of the Audit Committee, which consists entirely of non-executive Directors, is detailed on page 7 . During 2005, the Audit Committee complied
with all the recommendations of the Smith Guidance as appended to the 2003 FRC Code, except for the period from 30 November 2005 (when G A Campbell
resigned from the Board) and 21 December 2005 (when I F R Much was appointed to the Board). During this period there was only one non-executive Director
as a member of the Audit Committee. No Committee meetings were held during this three week period.

Corporate Governance Report
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Financial Reporting
The Board believes that the Annual Report properly presents a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects.The Audit
Committee monitors the half year and full year annual financial statements before submission to the Board, as well as any formal announcements relating to the
Group’s financial position.

There is an independent internal audit function, which includes a cyclical programme of visits to all Group operations.The Group Internal Audit function also 
co-ordinates semi-annual Financial Integrity Declarations and self-assessment questionnaires which are applied on a cyclical basis and subjected to review.The
results of these reviews and internal audit visits are reported to the Audit Committee, along with those from the external auditors.

The Audit Committee reviews the scope, cost and timing of the work of the external auditors, and acts to ensure their findings are appropriately implemented.
Whilst the Company does not have a policy of subjecting its external auditors to a regular fixed term rotation, the Committee remains cognisant of the importance
of maintaining the objectivity of the Company’s external auditors. During the year, the lead audit partner was rotated after a 5-year term in that position.

The Audit Committee has reviewed, and is satisfied with, the effectiveness and independence of the external auditors.The Committee also reviews the level 
and type of non-audit work carried out by the Company’s external auditors. In 2005 £ 0.2m (2004 – £ 0.4m) was paid in fees to the external auditors relating to
non-audit work, for advice on tax compliance.The Committee considers it is beneficial for the Company to retain Deloitte & Touche L L P for this type of work,
because of their expertise in this area and knowledge of the Group; however, the Committee will continue to keep the nature and extent of such services under
review, in order to balance the maintenance of objectivity and value for money.

Internal Control
The Company has a well-established and ongoing process, which was in place for the full year and up to the date of the Financial Statements, for identifying,
evaluating and managing significant risks, including non-financial risks, faced by the Group.This process is regularly reviewed by the Board and has been further
improved during the year.The process continues to accord with the Turnbull guidance on internal control.

Information on the Group’s significant risks, together with the relevant control and monitoring procedures, is reviewed for completeness and accuracy by the
Group’s management committees.This information is presented to the Board, for it to assess the effectiveness of the system of internal control.Whilst the Board
acknowledges its overall responsibility for internal control, it believes strongly that senior management within the Group’s operating businesses should contribute
in a substantial way, and this has been built into the process.

In carrying out their review of the effectiveness of internal control in the Group, the Board takes into consideration the following key features of the risk
management process and system of internal control:

• Senior management of each business has spent time identifying and assessing business unit and Group objectives, key issues, opportunities and controls.
This assessment encompassed operational, compliance, financial and business risks and is updated on an ongoing basis. A risk assessment has similarly been
prepared for the Group covering central functions and strategic risks;

• A detailed system of budgeting, reporting and forecasting for the Group’s operations is in place; this is monitored, both locally and centrally, through a review 
of monthly management information;

• The Group has expanded the remit of the Internal Audit function, whose audit plan is reviewed, updated and approved by the Audit Committee.The conclusions
from the function’s work are reported to the Audit Committee, the Group Chief Executive and the Finance Director; and

• There is in place a formal annual risk management sign-off process for senior management in each of the business units.This is operated in order to ensure
that, as far as possible, the controls and safeguards are being operated in line with established procedures and standards.

The whole risk management process is subject to review twice a year by the Audit Committee, and strengthened as appropriate. Steps are taken to embed
internal controls and risk management further into the operations of the business, and to deal with areas of improvement which come to management’s and the
Board’s attention.The Board is responsible for the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control and for the review of its effectiveness. Such a system 
is designed to manage, rather than to eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against misstatement or loss.

d) Relations with Shareholders
The Company maintains regular contact with its institutional shareholders. Each year, the Group Chief Executive and Finance Director undertake a series 
of meetings with the Company’s major shareholders, following the announcement of the full year and interim results, to discuss both strategic objectives and
the detailed performance of the business. During 2005, J R Kerr-Muir, the Company’s non-executive Chairman and M Clark, the Company’s Senior Independent
Director, also attended the full year and interim results announcements to shareholders and analysts, in March and August respectively. No other non-executive
Director formally met with shareholders during the year. M Clark is available to attend shareholder meetings, if this is requested by shareholders, so providing an
alternative channel of communication between the Company and its shareholders.The Company’s largest shareholders were invited to meet I F R Much following
his appointment as a non-executive Director on 21 December 2005.The Company consulted its largest shareholders prior to finalising the proposed 2005 L ong
Term Incentive Plan, which was approved by shareholders at the 2005 AGM.

The Company makes constructive use of the Annual General Meeting to communicate with private investors. A detailed presentation of the Company’s
performance is given at the AGM, and a copy of the presentation, along with other investor relations material, is available on the Company’s website.
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All resolutions at the 2005 AGM were passed unanimously on a show of hands. Details of the proxy voting received by the Company for the 2005 AGM are set
out in the table below.

Proxy voting for the 2005 AGM
For Against Discretionary Abstentions Total

Resolution (votes) (votes) (votes) (votes) (votes)

1. To adopt Report & Accounts 220,123,751 10,000 167,205 36,9 42 220,337,89 8
2. To approve Remuneration Report 219 ,539 ,709 566,255 173,250 58,684 220,337,89 8
3. To declare a final dividend 220,120,165 12,226 170,617 34,89 0 220,337,89 8
4. To re-elect Martin Clark as a Director 219 ,9 79 ,014 113,363 217,012 28,509 220,337,89 8
5. To re-elect Graham Menzies as a Director 220,019 ,840 73,432 217,454 27,172 220,337,89 8
6. To elect Gordon Campbell as a Director 216,774,643 603,546 221,755 2,737,9 54 220,337,89 8
7. To re-elect Deloitte & Touche LLP as auditors 216,854,89 5 541,653 212,589 2,728,761 220,337,89 8
8. Authority to allot shares 219 ,9 28,279 159 ,277 215,058 35,284 220,337,89 8
9 . Disapplication of pre-emption rights 219 ,835,782 133,39 9  310,421 58,29 6 220,337,89 8
10. Authority to buy back shares 219 ,9 81,144 115,230 233,656 7,868 220,337,89 8
11. To adopt the 2005 LTIP 216,629 ,158 9 21,69 6 238,534 2,548,510 220,337,89 8

The issued share capital as at 2 March 2005 (the date of the notice of the 2005 AGM), was 307.6 million shares of 10p each.

A large majority of the abstentions to Resolutions 6, 7 and 11 approving the election of G A Campbell as a Director, the election of Deloitte & Touche LLP as
Auditors and the adoption of the 2005 LTIP respectively came from a single shareholder.

The total number of proxy votes received for the 2005 AGM represented approximately 71.6%  (2004 – 69 .5% ) of the issued share capital of the Company.
The Company is supportive of initiatives to promote greater shareholder participation and offers CREST members the facility to appoint a proxy or proxies
through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service. Further details of this service may be found in the enclosed Notice of the Annual General Meeting.

Compliance Statement
The Company has, throughout the year, consistently applied the Principles of Good Governance and Code of Best Practice, which together comprise the 2003
FRC Code appended to the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, except as follows:

1. J R Kerr-Muir remained on the Remuneration Committee until 31 January 2005; FRC Code provision B.2.1; and

2. During the three week period between 30 November 2005 (when G A Campbell resigned from the Board) and 21 December 2005 (when I F R Much was
appointed to the Board) the Company did not comply with the FRC Code provisions: A.3.2, A.4.1. and B.2.1; and 2.1 of the Smith Guidance appended to the
FRC Code, as there were not at least two independent non-executive Directors on the Board and the Audit and Remuneration Committees, as required for
“smaller companies”. During this three week period a majority of the members of the Nominations Committee were not independent non-executive Directors,
as the Committee consisted of the non-executive Chairman and the Senior non-executive Director.

The Company now fully complies with all the detailed provisions in Section 1 of the 2003 FRC Code.

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements.The Directors have chosen to prepare accounts for the Company and
the Group in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. Company law requires the Directors to prepare such financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards, the Companies Act 19 85 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. International Accounting Standard 1 requires that
financial statements present fairly for each financial year the Company’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows.This requires the faithful representation
of the effects of transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out
in the International Accounting Standards Board’s “Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements”. In virtually all circumstances, a fair
presentation will be achieved by compliance with all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards.The Directors are also required to:
• properly select and apply accounting policies;
• present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information; and 
• provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in International Financial Reporting Standards is insufficient to enable users 

to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company, for safeguarding the assets, for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities and for the preparation 
of a Directors’ Report which comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 19 85.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the U nited Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements differs from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Corporate Governance Report continued
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We have audited the Group and individual company financial statements (the “financial statements”) of Senior plc for the year ended 31 December 2005 which
comprise the income statement, the statements of recognised income and expense, the balance sheets, the cash flow statements and the related Notes 1 to 40.
These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.We have also audited the information in the Directors’
Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
United Kingdom law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted for use in the European Union are set out in the Statement of
Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as having been audited in accordance with
relevant United Kingdom legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with the relevant framework and whether the
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as having been audited have been properly prepared in accordance with 
the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.We report to you if, in our opinion, the Directors’ Report is not consistent with the financial
statements.We also report to you if the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and transactions with the Company and other members of the
Group is not disclosed.

We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not complied with any of the four Directors’ remuneration disclosure requirements specified for our
review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority.These comprise the amount of each element in the remuneration package and information on
share options, details of long term incentive schemes, and money purchase and defined benefit schemes.We give a statement, to the extent possible, of details
of any non-compliance.

We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2003 FRC Combined Code
specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not.We are not required to consider whether the
Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures 
or its risk and control procedures.

We read the Directors’ Report and the other information contained in the Annual Report including the unaudited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
and we consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.

Basis of Audit Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
described as having been audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the
financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient
evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as having been audited are
free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as having been audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRS as adopted for use in the European Union, of the state of the Group’s affairs
as at 31 December 2005 and of its profit for the year then ended;

• the individual company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRS as adopted for use in the European Union as applied in
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 1985, of the individual company’s affairs as at 31 December 2005;

• the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as having been audited have been properly prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Birmingham

1 March 2006

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Senior plc
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Consolidated Income Statement 
For the year ended 31 December 2005

Notes Y ear ended Y ear ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Continuing Operations
Revenue 3 338.6 306.8

Trading profit 5 19.8 16.1
(Loss)/profit on sale of fixed assets (0.2) 0.5

Operating profit 19.6 16.6
Exchange gain on long-term intercompany loans 29a 2.0 –
Investment income 7 1.3 2.1
Finance costs 8 (6.3) (6.2)

Profit before tax 16.6 12.5
Tax 9 (2.5) (1.6)

Profit for the period from continuing operations 14.1 10.9
Discontinued Operations
Loss for the period from discontinued operations 10 – (4.4)

Profit for the period 5 14.1 6.5

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 14.1 6.5

Earnings per share 
From continuing operations
Basic 12 4.59p 3.56p

Diluted 12 4.51p 3.51p

From continuing and discontinued operations 
Basic 12 4.59p 2.12p

Diluted 12 4.51p 2.09p

The comparative figures for 2004 have been restated to reflect the adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. See Note 39 for details.

Statements of Recognised Income and Expense 
For the year ended 31 December 2005

Group Group Company Company
Y ear ended Y ear ended Y ear ended Y ear ended

2005 2004 2005 2004
£m £m £m £m

Initial recognition of financial instruments (0.2) – (0.7) –
Gains on cash flow hedges 0.5 – – –
(Loss)/gain on revaluation of financial instruments (1.8) – 0.2 –
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 2.2 (0.5) (0.1) (0.3)
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension schemes 0.2 (0.3) 0.9 1.6
Tax on items taken directly to equity (0.7) 1.0 – –

Net income recognised directly in equity 0.2 0.2 0.3 1.3
Amounts transferred to profit or loss on cash flow hedges (0.3) – – –
Amounts transferred to loss on disposal – 0.2 – –
Profit for the period 14.1 6.5 14.8 14.7

Total recognised income and expense for the period 14.0 6.9 15.1 16.0

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 14.0 6.9 15.1 16.0

The comparative figures for 2004 have been restated to reflect the adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. See Note 39 for details.
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Notes Group Group Company Company
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

2005 2004 2005 2004
£m £m £m £m

Non-current assets
Goodwill 13 77.1 73.1 – –
Other intangible assets 14 1.1 1.2 – –
Investments in subsidiaries 16 – – 92.0 30.3
Property, plant and equipment 15 76.1 68.8 0.1 0.1
Deferred tax assets 22 0.1 0.1 – –
Trade and other receivables 19 3.8 3.8 134.4 191.0

Total non-current assets 158.2 147.0 226.5 221.4

Current assets 
Inventories 17 47.7 38.4 – –
Construction contracts 18 3.4 4.5 – –
Trade and other receivables 19 64.9 55.5 3.1 3.1
Cash and cash equivalents 34a 8.5 7.4 7.4 8.5

Total current assets 124.5 105.8 10.5 11.6

Total assets 282.7 252.8 237.0 233.0

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 24 69.7 59.6 2.3 2.5
Tax liabilities 10.0 9.5 0.2 0.2
Obligations under finance leases 23 0.2 0.3 – –
Bank overdrafts and loans 20 0.2 2.6 0.2 –

Total current liabilities 80.1 72.0 2.7 2.7

Non-current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 24 – – 29.1 46.0
Bank and other loans 20 66.3 52.6 65.7 52.1
Retirement benefit obligations 37 39.9 41.4 31.3 33.7
Deferred tax liabilities 22 2.1 0.9 – –
Obligations under finance leases 23 1.6 1.8 – –
Others 0.4 0.4 – –

Total non-current liabilities 110.3 97.1 126.1 131.8

Total liabilities 190.4 169.1 128.8 134.5

Net assets 92.3 83.7 108.2 98.5

Equity
Issued share capital 25 30.9 30.7 30.9 30.7
Share premium account 26 3.8 3.5 3.8 3.5
Equity reserve 27 0.4 0.2 0.4 0.2
Other reserve 28 – 17.0 – 83.8
Hedging and translation reserve 29 0.4 0.7 (0.9) (0.3)
Retained earnings 30 58.1 32.9 75.3 (18.1)
Own shares 31 (1.3) (1.3) (1.3) (1.3)

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 92.3 83.7 108.2 98.5

Total equity 92.3 83.7 108.2 98.5

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 1 March 2006.
They were signed on its behalf by:

J R Kerr-Muir, Director

M Rollins, Director

The comparative figures for 2004 have been restated to reflect the adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. See Note 39 for details.

Balance Sheets
As at 31 December 2005
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Cash Flow Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2005

Notes Group Group Company Company
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

2005 2004 2005 2004
£m £m £m £m

Net cash from operating activities 34a 16.5 17.7 (10.8) (12.1)

Investing activities 
Interest received 1.4 2.5 10.1 8.5
Dividends received from subsidiaries – – 14.3 14.2
Disposal of subsidiary 32 – 4.7 – –
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 0.9 0.7 – –
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (16.3) (9.8) – –
Purchases of intangible assets (0.3) (0.2) – –
Acquisition of subsidiary 33 (0.1) (0.2) – –

Net cash used in investing activities (14.4) (2.3) 24.4 22.7

Financing activities 
Dividends paid (6.1) (6.1) (6.1) (6.1)
Repayment of borrowings (1.0) (18.9) – (16.7)
Repayments of obligations under finance leases (0.3) (0.3) – –
Share issues 0.5 – 0.5 –
New loans raised 7.1 – 7.1 –
Net loans (advanced to)/repayments from subsidiaries – – (15.8) 27.0
Net cash (outflow)/inflow on forward contracts (0.2) 4.5 (0.4) (0.1)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities – (20.8) (14.7) 4.1

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2.1 (5.4) (1.1) 14.7
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 5.9 11.5 8.5 (6.2)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 0.5 (0.2) – –

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 8.5 5.9 7.4 8.5
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1. General information
Senior plc is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the
Companies Act 1985.The address of the registered office is given on the
inside back cover.The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal
activities are set out in Note 4 and in the Business Review on pages 4 to 6.

2. Significant accounting policies
Basis of accounting
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted for use in the
European Union for the first time with effect from 1 January 2005.They
therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation and have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain
properties and financial instruments.

The disclosures required by IFRS 1 concerning the transition from UK GAAP
to IFRS are given in Note 39.

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as 
required by the Companies Act 1985. As permitted by the Act, the separate
statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.They have been prepared on the historical cost basis
except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments.The principal
accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out below, except 
in respect of investments in subsidiaries, which are stated at cost less, where
appropriate, provisions for impairment.

The principal accounting policies under IFRS are set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements 
of Senior plc and the entities controlled by it (its subsidiaries) made up to 
31 December. Control is achieved when Senior plc has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an invested entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

On acquisition, the assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary
are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the
cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired 
is recognised as goodwill. Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired (i.e. discount on acquisition) 
is credited to the profit and loss account in the period of acquisition.The
interest of minority shareholders is stated at the minority’s proportion of 
the fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised. Subsequently, any losses
applicable to the minority interest in excess of the minority interest are
allocated against the interests of the parent.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used 
by the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated 
on consolidation.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities 
of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill is recognised as an asset and reviewed for impairment at least
annually. Any impairment is recognised immediately through the income
statement and is not subsequently reversed.

On disposal of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity, the
attributable amount of goodwiII is included in the determination of the profit
or loss on disposal.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to the date of transition to IFRS has
been retained at the previous UK GAAP amount subject to being tested for

impairment at that date. Goodwill written off to reserves under UK GAAP
prior to 1998 has not been reinstated and is not included in determining 
any subsequent profit or loss on disposal.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods and services
provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts, V AT and other
sales related taxes.

Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the sale.

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy on construction contracts, as outlined below.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ legal
rights to receive payment have been established.

Construction contracts
Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably,
revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion 
of the contract activity at the balance sheet date.This is normally calculated
in accordance with the proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs, except where
this would not be representative of the stage of completion. V ariations in
contract work and claims are included to the extent that it is probable that
they will be recovered from the customer.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract revenue is only recognised to the extent that contract costs incurred
will probably be recoverable.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract
revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

L easing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
substantially transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group 
at their fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease
payments, each determined at the inception of the lease.The corresponding
liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease
obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and 
a reduction of the lease obligation in order to achieve a constant rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are
charged directly to the income statement.

Rentals payable under operating leases are expensed on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease.

Benefits received and receivable as incentives to enter into an operating lease 
are also spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in currencies other than pounds sterling are recorded 
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction.
At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing 
on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value 
that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are not retranslated. Gains and losses arising on retranslation are included 
in net profit or loss for the period, except for exchange differences arising 
on non-monetary assets and liabilities where the changes in fair value 
are recognised directly in equity, subject to meeting the requirements 
under IAS 21.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2. Significant accounting policies continued
In order to hedge its exposure to certain foreign exchange risks, the Group
enters into forward contracts (see section on Derivative financial instruments
and hedging below for details of the Group’s accounting policies in respect of
such derivative financial instruments).

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s overseas operations
are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income
and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such
translation differences are recognised as income or expense in the period in
which the operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign
entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated 
at the closing rate.

Government grants
Government grants received for items of a revenue nature are recognised as
income over the period necessary to match them with the related costs and
are deducted in reporting the related expense.

Government grants relating to investment in property, plant and equipment
are deducted from the initial carrying value of the related capital asset.

Operating profit
Operating profit is stated after charging restructuring costs, and before
investment income and finance costs, as they relate to external borrowings
and retirement benefit obligations.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement schemes are charged as an
expense as they fall due. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are dealt with as payments to defined contribution schemes where
the Group’s obligations under the schemes are equivalent to those arising in 
a defined contribution retirement scheme.

For defined benefit retirement schemes, the cost of providing benefits is
determined using the Projected Unit Method, with full actuarial valuations
being carried out on a triennial basis, and updated at each balance sheet date.
Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in which they
occur.They are recognised outside the income statement and are presented 
in the statement of recognised income and expense.

Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits
are already vested. Otherwise, it is amortised on a straight-line basis over the
period until the benefits become vested.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet represents
the present value of the defined benefit obligation as adjusted for unrecognised
past service costs, and as reduced by the fair value of scheme assets. Any net
asset resulting from this calculation is limited to the past service cost plus the
present value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to
the plan.

Taxation
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.Taxable profit
differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and 
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary

differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising
on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying value of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet
date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is
charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items
charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
dealt with in equity.

Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in the balance sheet at their
historic cost, or at modified historic cost, being a revaluation undertaken in
1988. Land and buildings were revalued to fair value at date of revaluation.

The Group does not intend to conduct annual revaluations.

Fixtures, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any recognised impairment loss.

Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life 
of the asset, and is charged from the time an asset becomes available for its
intended use. Annual rates are as follows:

Freehold buildings 2%
Improvements to according to remaining
leasehold buildings lease term
Plant and equipment 5% – 33%

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful
lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, over the term of
the relevant lease.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is
determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset at disposal and is recognised in income.

Internally generated intangible assets – 
research and development expenditure
An internally generated intangible asset arising from the Group’s development
activities is recognised if all of the following conditions are met:

(i) An asset is created that can be separately identified;

(ii) It is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits;
and

(iii) The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis
over their useful lives.

Development work is also carried out on a funded basis. In such circumstances
the costs are accumulated in inventory and are recognised when the related
billings are made. Any amounts held in inventory are subject to normal
inventory valuation principles. Otherwise expenditure on research and
development activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which 
it is incurred.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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2. Significant accounting policies continued
Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication 
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).Where the asset does not generate
cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value less the costs to sell 
and the value in use. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs
comprise direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and an
appropriate allocation of production overheads. Cost is calculated using the
first in first out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price less the estimated costs of completion and the costs to be incurred in
marketing, selling and distribution.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the relevant instrument and derecognised
when it ceases to be a party to such provisions.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are measured at fair value. Appropriate allowances for
estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there 
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.

C ash  an d cash  eq u ivalen ts
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and other short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

N o n -derivative fi n an cial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. For borrowings, their carrying value includes accrued interest
payable, as well as unamortised issue costs.

E q u ity  in stru m en ts
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the value of the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

D erivative fi n an cial in stru m en ts an d h edg in g
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in
foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.The Group uses foreign
exchange contracts and interest rate swap contracts to hedge these exposures.
The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s treasury policy as
approved by the Board of Directors, which provides written principles on the
use of derivatives.The Group does not use derivative financial instruments for
speculative purposes.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated
and are effective as a cash flow hedge are recognised directly in equity and

the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.
If the cash flow hedge of a firm commitment or forecasted transaction
results in the recognition of an asset or a liability, then, at the time the asset
or liability is recognised, the associated gains or losses on the derivative 
that had previously been recognised in equity are included in the initial
measurement of the asset or liability. For hedges that do not result in 
the recognition of an asset or a liability, amounts deferred in equity are
recognised in the income statement in the same period in which the hedged
item affects net profit or loss.

For an effective hedge of an exposure to changes in fair value, the hedged
item is adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to the risk being hedged
with the corresponding entry in profit or loss. Gains or losses from re-measuring
the derivative are also recognised in profit or loss. If the hedge is effective,
these entries will offset in the income statement.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify
for hedge accounting are recognised in the income statement as they arise.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires 
or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge
accounting. At that time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging
instrument recognised in equity is retained in equity until the forecasted
transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur,
the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is transferred to net
profit or loss for the period.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts
are treated as derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely
related to those host contracts.

The Group has taken the exemption available in IFRS 1 not to restate
comparatives for IAS 32 and IAS 39. Consequently, the comparative
information for 2004 shown in Note 21 is in accordance with the figures
previously presented under UK GAAP.

Provisions
Provisions for restructuring costs are recognised when the Group has a
detailed formal plan for the restructuring and the plan has been communicated
to the affected parties. Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date.
They are not discounted to present value as the effect is not material.

Share-based payments
The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 Share-based payments.
In accordance with the transitional provisions, IFRS 2 has been applied to all
grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that were unvested as 
of 1 January 2005.

The Group has issued equity-settled and cash-settled share-based payments 
to certain employees.The fair value (excluding the effect of non-market related
conditions), as determined at the grant date, is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of the number 
of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market
related conditions.

Fair value is measured by use of a Black-Scholes model for the share option
plans, and a binomial model for the share awards under the 2005 Long Term
Incentive Plan.

The liability in respect of equity-settled amounts is included in equity,
whereas the liability in respect of cash-settled amounts is included in current
and non-current liabilities as appropriate.

Segmental analysis
Under IFRS, segmental detail is presented according to a primary
segment and a secondary segment.The Group’s primary segmental
analysis is based on the industries that it serves: Aerospace, Automotive
and Industrial.The secondary analysis is presented according to
geographic markets comprising North America, Europe (split between
the UK and Rest of Europe) and the Rest of the World.This is consistent
with the way the Group manages itself and with the format of the
Group’s internal financial reporting.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

2. Significant accounting policies continued
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
Where critical accounting judgements and key estimations have been applied, these are referred to in the relevant Notes, the most significant being in goodwill,
derivative financial instruments, share-based payments and retirement benefit schemes.

3. Revenue
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

Year ended Year ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Sale of goods 325.7 310.5
Revenue from construction contracts 12.9 15.4

338.6 325.9

Continuing operations 338.6 306.8
Discontinued operations – 19.1

Total 338.6 325.9
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4. Business and geographical segments
Business segments
Segment information for revenue, operating profit and a reconciliation to entity net profit is presented below.

Inter Inter
External segment Total Segment External segment Total Segment 
revenue revenue revenue result revenue revenue revenue result

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
2005 2005 2005 2005 2004 2004 2004 2004

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Aerospace 155.8 0.4 156.2 12.8 139.5 0.1 139.6 11.1
Automotive 135.2 0.7 135.9 8.9 122.6 0.3 122.9 8.4
Industrial 47.6 0.2 47.8 2.2 44.7 0.2 44.9 0.9

Sub total 338.6 1.3 339.9 23.9 306.8 0.6 307.4 20.4
Eliminations (1.3) (1.3) – (0.6) (0.6) –
Central costs (4.3) (3.8)

Total continuing 
operations 338.6 – 338.6 19.6 306.8 – 306.8 16.6

Exchange gain on long-term intercompany loans 2.0 –
Investment income 1.3 2.1
Finance costs (6.3) (6.2)

Profit before tax 16.6 12.5
Tax (2.5) (1.6)
Loss for the period from discontinued operations – (4.4)

Profit after tax and 
discontinued operations 14.1 6.5

Segment results for 2005 shown above are stated after charging a £0.2m loss on sale of fixed assets, attributed wholly to the Aerospace segment. Segment
results for 2004 shown above are stated after crediting profit on sale of fixed assets of £0.5m attributed wholly to the Automotive segment.

The total Group revenue was £338.6m (2004 – £325.9m), with discontinued operations contributing £nil (2004 – £19.1m). Details on the loss for the 2004 
year from discontinued operations are shown in Note 10.The discontinued operations related wholly to the Industrial segment.

Segment information for assets, liabilities, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and depreciation and amortisation is presented below.

Additions Depreciation Additions Depreciation
to PPE and and to PPE and and

Assets Liabilities intangibles amortisation Assets Liabilities intangibles amortisation
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

2005 2005 2005 2005 2004 2004 2004 2004
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Aerospace 143.0 25.9 3.1 5.2 132.1 20.6 4.1 5.5
Automotive 91.9 22.7 13.2 6.1 73.2 21.8 4.4 6.5
Industrial 34.0 9.0 0.3 0.6 33.5 9.1 1.5 0.6

Sub total continuing operations 268.9 57.6 16.6 11.9 238.8 51.5 10.0 12.6
Unallocated corporate amounts 13.8 132.8 – 0.1 14.0 117.6 0.1 0.1
Discontinued operations – – – – – – 0.3 0.6

Total 282.7 190.4 16.6 12.0 252.8 169.1 10.4 13.3

Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangibles during the year amounting to £nil (2004 – £0.4m) were financed by new finance leases.The additions
in 2004 were attributed wholly to the Aerospace segment.
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4. Business and geographical segments continued
Geographical segments
The Group’s operations are principally located in North America and Europe.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s sales by geographical market, irrespective of the origin of the goods/services.The carrying amount 
of segment assets and additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, are analysed by the geographical area in which the assets are located.

Additions Additions
Sales Segment to PPE and Sales Segment to PPE and

revenue assets intangibles revenue assets intangibles
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

2005 2005 2005 2004 2004 2004
£m £m £m £m £m £m

North America 178.5 137.9 10.6 158.5 112.2 5.7
UK 40.7 62.3 1.7 42.2 62.4 0.8
Rest of Europe 94.2 51.4 2.9 88.7 52.2 2.7
Rest of World 25.2 17.3 1.4 17.4 12.0 0.8

Sub total continuing operations 338.6 268.9 16.6 306.8 238.8 10.0
Unallocated corporate amounts – 13.8 – – 14.0 0.1
Discontinued operations – – – 19.1 – 0.3

Total 338.6 282.7 16.6 325.9 252.8 10.4

Revenue from the Group’s discontinued operations was derived from North America (2005 – £nil, 2004 – £6.3m), UK (2005 – £nil, 2004 – £4.2m), Europe
(2005 – £nil, 2004 – £7.4m) and Rest of World (2005 – £nil, 2004 – £1.2m).

The carrying values of segment assets all relate to continuing operations.

Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangibles during the year amounting to £nil (2004 – £0.4m) were financed by new finance leases.The additions
in 2004 were attributed wholly to North America.

The additions to property, plant and equipment and intangibles relating to the Group’s discontinued operations were as follows:

North America (2005 – £nil, 2004 – £nil), UK (2005 – £nil, 2004 – £0.1m), Europe (2005 – £nil, 2004 – £0.2m) and Rest of World (2005 – £nil, 2004 – £nil).

5.Trading profit and profit for the period
Trading profit for continuing operations can be analysed as follows:

Year Year
ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Revenue 338.6 306.8
Cost of sales (268.7) (240.6)

Gross profit 69.9 66.2
Distribution costs (3.7) (3.6)
Administrative expenses (46.4) (46.5)

Trading profit 19.8 16.1

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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5.Trading profit and profit for the period continued
Profit for the period has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Year Year
ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Net foreign exchange gains (0.3) (0.5)

Research and development costs 8.3 8.7

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11.5 12.8

Amortisation of intangible assets included in administration expenses 0.5 0.5

Cost of inventories recognised as expense 268.7 255.3

Staff costs (see Note 6) 124.5 125.0

Auditors’ remuneration for audit services (see below) 0.4 0.4

Amounts payable to Deloitte & Touche LLP and their associates by the Company and its subsidiary undertakings in respect of non-audit services were £0.2m 
(2004 – £0.4m).

Auditors’ remuneration for audit services to the Company was £0.1m (2004 – £0.1m).

A more detailed analysis of auditors’ remuneration on a worldwide basis is provided below:

2005 2004
£m % £m %

Audit services
– statutory audit 0.4 67 0.4 50

0.4 67 0.4 50

Tax services
– compliance services 0.1 16 0.3 37
– advisory services 0.1 17 0.1 13

0.2 33 0.4 50

0.6 100 0.8 100

A description of the work of the Audit Committee is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 18 and 19 and includes an explanation of how
auditor objectivity and independence is safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by the auditors.

6. Staff costs
The average monthly number of employees (including executive Directors) was:

Group Group Company Company
Year Year Year Year

ended ended ended ended
2005 2004 2005 2004

Number Number Number Number

Production 4,175 4,201 – –
Distribution 55 55 – –
Sales 303 334 – –
Administration 385 424 17 18

4,918 5,014 17 18

Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended
2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
Wages and salaries 107.2 107.4 1.7 1.3
Social security costs 13.3 13.4 0.2 0.2
Other pension costs – defined contribution (see Note 37a) 2.2 2.2 – –
Other pension costs – defined benefit (see Note 37e) 1.8 2.0 0.1 0.1

124.5 125.0 2.0 1.6
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7. Investment income
Year Year

ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Interest on bank deposits 0.2 0.1
Foreign currency derivatives 1.0 1.1
Interest on tax refund – 0.8
Others 0.1 0.1

Total income 1.3 2.1

8. Finance costs
Year Year

ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans 0.7 0.7
Interest on other loans 4.3 4.3
Interest on obligations under finance leases 0.1 0.1
Cost/(benefit) on interest rate swaps 0.1 (0.1)
Net finance cost of retirement benefit obligations (Note 37e) 1.1 1.2

Total finance costs 6.3 6.2

9.Tax charge
Year Year

ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Current tax:
UK corporation tax – 0.1
Foreign tax 2.3 2.5
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (0.2) (0.9)

2.1 1.7

Deferred tax (Note 22):
Current year 0.7 –
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (0.3) –

0.4

2.5 1.7

Attributable to:
Continuing operations 2.5 1.6
Discontinued operations – 0.1

2.5 1.7

UK corporation tax is calculated at 30% (2004 – 30%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year.

Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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9.Tax charge continued
The charge for the year on profit from continuing operations can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as follows:

Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended
2005 2005 2004 2004

£m % £m %

Profit before tax from continuing operations 16.6 12.5

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 30% (2004 – 30%) 5.0 3.8
Tax effect of income/expenses that are non taxable/deductible in determining taxable profit (0.5) 0.1
Tax effect of unrelieved tax losses 1.8 2.0
Tax effect of movements in temporary differences not previously recognised (1.4) (1.5)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions (1.9) (1.9)
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods (0.5) (0.9)

Tax expense and effective tax rate for the year 2.5 15.0 1.6 12.8

In addition to the amount charged to the income statement, tax relating to unrealised foreign exchange gains/losses amounting to £0.7m (2004 – £1.0m credited)
has been charged directly to equity via hedging and translation reserves (see Note 29).

10. Discontinued operations
There have been no disposals in 2005.

In August 2004, the Group’s five industrial hose operations, comprising the share capitals of Senior Flexonics Limited, Flexonics SAS, Senior Flexonics B.V.,
Teknofluor Holding A.B and the trade and assets of the US Hose Division of Senior Operations Inc, were sold.

The results of the discontinued operations which have been included in the consolidated income statement were as follows:

Year
ended
2004

£m

Revenue 19.1
Expenses (18.6)

Profit before tax 0.5
Attributable tax expense (0.1)

Profit after tax 0.4
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations (4.8)

Net loss attributable to discontinued operations (4.4)

During the year, discontinued operations used £nil (2004 – £1.2m) of the Group’s net operating cash flows, paid £nil (2004 – £0.3m) in respect of investing
activities and paid £nil (2004 – £nil) in respect of financing activities.

A loss of £nil (2004 – £4.8m) arose on the disposal of discontinued operations, being the proceeds of disposal less the carrying amount of the subsidiary’s net
assets and attributable balance sheet goodwill.

11. Dividends
Year Year

ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the period:
Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2004 of 1.35p (2003 – 1.35p) per share 4.1 4.1
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2005 of 0.65p (2004 – 0.65p) per share 2.0 2.0

6.1 6.1

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2005 of 1.35p (2004 – 1.35p) per share 4.2 4.1

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been included as a liability in these financial statements.
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12. Earnings per share
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

Year Year
ended ended
2005 2004

Number of shares m m

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share 306.8 306.5
Effect of dilutive potential shares:
Share options 5.6 4.3

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 312.4 310.8

Year ended 2005 Year ended 2004
Earnings EPS Earnings EPS

Earnings and earnings per share £m pence £m pence

Profit for the period from continuing operations 14.1 4.59 10.9 3.56
Loss for the period from discontinued operations – – (4.4) (1.44)

Profit for the period from continuing and discontinued operations 14.1 4.59 6.5 2.12
Adjust:
Loss/(profit) on sale of fixed assets net of tax of £nil (2004 – £0.2m) 0.2 0.07 (0.3) (0.10)
Exchange gain on long-term intercompany loans net of tax of £nil (2004 – £nil) (2.0) (0.65) – –
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations – – 4.8 1.57

Adjusted earnings after tax 12.3 4.01 11.0 3.59

Earnings per share
– basic continuing 4.59p 3.56p
– basic discontinued – (1.44)p

– basic 4.59p 2.12p

– diluted 4.51p 2.09p
– adjusted 4.01p 3.59p
– adjusted and diluted 3.94p 3.54p

The effect of dilutive shares on the earnings for the purposes of diluted earnings per share is £nil (2004 – £nil).

The denominators used for all basic, diluted and adjusted earnings per share are as detailed in the “Number of shares” table above.

The provision of an adjusted earnings per share, derived in accordance with the table above, has been included to identify the performance of operations,
from the time of acquisition or until the time of disposal, prior to the impact of the following items:

– gains or losses arising from the disposal of fixed assets
– gains or losses arising from the disposal of discontinued operations
– gains or losses arising from the re-translation of long-term intercompany loans

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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13. Goodwill
Group Group

Year Year
ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Cost
At 1 January 73.1 76.7
Exchange differences 4.2 (2.3)
Derecognised on disposal of a subsidiary – (1.3)
Other changes (0.2) –

At 31 December 77.1 73.1

Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January and at 31 December – –

Carrying amount at 31 December 77.1 73.1

The amount shown on other changes represents a reduction in the deferred consideration payable in respect of Q SI Technologies, upon expiry of the time
period for contingent consideration to be payable from the acquisition of the business in June 1998.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit from that business
combination.The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated as follows:

Group Group
Year Year

ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Aerospace
– Senior UK Limited 36.4 36.4
– Jet Products 15.0 13.4
– Other 1.3 1.3

52.7 51.1

Automotive 7.4 6.8
Industrial
– Pathway 15.6 14.0
– Other 1.4 1.2

17.0 15.2

Total 77.1 73.1

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations.The key assumptions for these calculations are those regarding the discount
rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs.The growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts. Changes in
selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by management for the next three years and extrapolates cash
flows thereafter based on an estimated growth rate of 2% per annum.This rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 8.4%.
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14. Other intangible assets
Group Group Company Company

Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended
2005 2004 2005 2004

Computer Computer Computer Computer
software software software software

£m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 4.1 4.1 0.1 0.1
Additions 0.3 0.2 – –
Disposals (0.1) – – –
Exchange differences 0.5 (0.2) – –

At 31 December 4.8 4.1 0.1 0.1

Amortisation
At 1 January 2.9 2.5 0.1 0.1
Charge for the year 0.5 0.5 – –
Disposals (0.1) – – –
Exchange differences 0.4 (0.1) – –

At 31 December 3.7 2.9 0.1 0.1

Carrying amount at 31 December 1.1 1.2 – –

15. Property, plant and equipment
a) Group

Year Year Year Year Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended ended ended ended ended
2005 2005 2005 2005 2004 2004 2004 2004

Freehold Leasehold Plant Freehold Leasehold Plant
land and land and and land and land and and
buildings buildings equipment Total buildings buildings equipment Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 39.9 1.2 155.4 196.5 40.5 1.2 169.1 210.8
Additions 0.9 – 15.4 16.3 1.6 0.1 8.5 10.2
Exchange differences 1.9 0.2 9.3 11.4 (1.2) (0.1) (4.9) (6.2)
Business disposal – – – – (0.9) – (15.3) (16.2)
Disposals (1.9) – (3.7) (5.6) (0.1) – (2.0) (2.1)

At 31 December 40.8 1.4 176.4 218.6 39.9 1.2 155.4 196.5

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment
At 1 January 8.8 0.7 118.2 127.7 8.4 0.7 124.2 133.3
Charge for the year 0.9 0.1 10.5 11.5 1.0 – 11.8 12.8
Exchange differences 0.4 0.1 7.4 7.9 (0.3) – (4.0) (4.3)
Business disposal – – – – (0.3) – (11.9) (12.2)
Eliminated on disposals (0.9) – (3.7) (4.6) – – (1.9) (1.9)

At 31 December 9.2 0.9 132.4 142.5 8.8 0.7 118.2 127.7

Carrying amount at 31 December 31.6 0.5 44.0 76.1 31.1 0.5 37.2 68.8

The carrying amount of the Group’s land and buildings and plant and equipment includes an amount of £2.9m (2004 – £3.1m) in respect of assets held under
finance leases.

Some land and buildings were revalued in 1988 and this valuation has been treated as the deemed cost under IFRS 1.

At 31 December 2005, the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment amounting to £7.3m 
(2004 – £2.5m).

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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15. Property, plant and equipment continued
b) Company

Year Year
ended ended
2005 2004
Plant Plant
and and

equipment equipment
£m £m

Cost
At 1 January and at 31 December 0.4 0.4

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 0.3 0.2
Charge for the year – 0.1

At 31 December 0.3 0.3

Carrying amount at 31 December 0.1 0.1

16. Investments in subsidiaries
A list of the significant investments in subsidiaries, including the name, country of incorporation, and proportion of ownership interest is given on page 59.

Company Company
Year Year

ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

At 1 January 30.3 30.3
Additional investment in subsidiary 61.7 –

At 31 December 92.0 30.3

Additional investment in subsidiary comprises re-capitalisation of the subsidiary by means of the capitalisation of part of an interest bearing loan due from 
the subsidiary.

17. Inventories
Group Group

Year Year
ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Raw materials 18.8 15.3
Work-in-progress 21.4 17.4
Finished goods 7.5 5.7

47.7 38.4

An amount of £1.0m (2004 – £1.1m) has been charged in respect of inventory write-downs.
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18. Construction contracts
Group Group

Year Year
ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Contracts in progress at balance sheet date:
Amounts due from contract customers included in current assets 3.4 4.5
Amounts due to contract customers included in trade and other payables (0.1) –

3.3 4.5

Current costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses to date 10.7 6.9
Less: progress billings (7.4) (2.4)

3.3 4.5

At 31 December 2005, retentions held by customers for contract work amounted to £0.6m (2004 – £0.7m). Advances received from customers for contract
work amounted to £nil (2004 – £nil).

At 31 December 2005, amounts of £0.2m (2004 – £0.1m) included in trade and other receivables and arising from construction contracts are due for
settlement after more than 12 months.

19. Other financial assets
Trade and other receivables at the balance sheet date comprise the following:

Group Group Company Company
Year Year Year Year

ended ended ended ended
2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Non-current assets
Deferred consideration on disposal of Hose operations 2.8 3.0 – –
Trade receivables 0.2 0.1 – –
Other receivables 0.8 0.7 – –
Due from subsidiaries – – 134.4 191.0

3.8 3.8 134.4 191.0

Current assets
Trade receivables 56.9 49.2 – –
Current tax recoverable 0.4 1.2 1.6 –
Value added tax 0.6 0.9 0.1 –
Currency derivatives 1.4 – 0.2 –
Prepayments and accrued income 5.0 3.5 0.4 0.5
Other receivables 0.6 0.7 0.7 0.7
Due from subsidiaries – – 0.1 1.9

64.9 55.5 3.1 3.1

Total trade and other receivables 68.7 59.3 137.5 194.1

The average credit period taken on sales of goods is 74 days. An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods of 
£1.5m (2004 – £1.5m).This allowance has been determined in accordance with Group policy.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value.

Credit risk
The Group’s principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, and trade receivables, which represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation
to financial assets.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables.The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivables.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counter-parties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international
credit rating agencies.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of counter-parties and customers.

The amounts due from subsidiaries have been reduced due to the re-capitalisation of a subsidiary as referred to in Note 16.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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20. Bank overdrafts and loans
Group Group Company Company

Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended
2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Bank overdrafts – 1.5 – –
Bank loans 7.2 1.1 7.2 –
Other loans 59.3 52.6 58.7 52.1

66.5 55.2 65.9 52.1

The borrowings are repayable as follows:

On demand or within one year 0.2 2.6 0.2 –
In the second year 21.7 – 21.7 –
In the third to fifth years inclusive 44.0 52.1 44.0 52.1
After five years 0.6 0.5 – –

66.5 55.2 65.9 52.1

Less: amount due for settlement within 12 months (shown under current liabilities) (0.2) (2.6) (0.2) –

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 66.3 52.6 65.7 52.1

Analysis of borrowings by currency:
31 December 2005

U S
Total Sterling Euros dollars

£m £m £m £m

Bank overdrafts – – – –
Bank loans 7.2 – 4.3 2.9
Other loans 59.3 – 0.6 58.7

66.5 – 4.9 61.6

31 December 2004
US

Total Sterling Euros dollars
£m £m £m £m

Bank overdrafts 1.5 – 1.5 –
Bank loans 1.1 – 1.1 –
Other loans 52.6 – 0.5 52.1

55.2 – 3.1 52.1

The weighted average interest rates paid were as follows:
Year Year 

ended ended
2005 2004

% %

Bank overdrafts 3.55 3.45
Bank loans 3.20 2.75
Other loans 7.47 7.47

Bank loans and overdrafts of £7.2m (2004 – £2.6m) are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Other borrowings are
mainly arranged at fixed interest rates and expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. Interest rate swaps of £5.8m (2004 – £16.1m) had been taken out
at the year-end to convert interest from fixed rates to floating rates.
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20. Bank overdrafts and loans continued
The Directors estimate the fair value of the Group’s borrowings to be as follows:

Year Year
ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Bank overdrafts – 1.5
Bank loans 7.2 1.1
Other loans 60.6 54.4

67.8 57.0

The other principal features of the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

Bank overdrafts are repayable on demand.The effective interest rates on bank overdrafts are determined based on appropriate LIBOR rates plus applicable margin.

The Group’s and the Company’s main loans are unsecured guaranteed loan notes in the US private placement market.

a) Loan notes of $ 75m, 2005 £43.6m (2004 – £39.1m) were taken out in October 1998 and are due for repayment in October 2008.The loan notes carry
interest at the rate of 6.52% per annum.

b) Loan notes of $ 25m, 2005 £14.5m (2004 – £13.0m) were taken out in October 1992 and are due for repayment in June 2007.The loan notes carry interest
at the rate of 8.75% per annum.

The Group also has two revolving credit facilities: a committed £46m multi-currency facility maturing on 31 October 2007 and a committed single bank $ 25m
(£14.5m) facility maturing on 31 May 2007. As at 31 December 2005, £7.2m was drawn under the first facility, comprising $ 5m (£2.9m) and €6.3m (£4.3m).
There were no amounts drawn under this facility at 31 December 2004.There were no amounts drawn under the second facility at 31 December 2005 
and 2004.

As at 31 December 2005, the Group had available £53.3m (2004 – £59.0m) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of which all conditions
precedent had been met.

21. Derivative financial instruments
The Group has taken the exemption available in IFRS 1 not to restate comparatives for IAS 32 and IAS 39. Consequently, the comparative information for 2004
shown in this note is in accordance with the figures previously presented under UK GAAP.

Currency derivatives
The Group utilises currency derivatives to hedge significant fair values, cash flows and net investments denominated in foreign currencies.The Group is a party 
to a variety of foreign currency forward contracts in the management of its exchange rate exposures.The instruments purchased are primarily denominated in
the currencies of the Group’s principal markets.

At the balance sheet date, total notional amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts that the Group and the Company have committed are below.

Group Group Company Company
Year Year Year Year

ended ended ended ended
2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Forward foreign exchange contracts 98.5 46.7 8.3 –

At 31 December 2005, the fair value of the Group’s currency derivatives is estimated to be approximately £1.4m liability (2004 – £0.6m asset).These amounts
are based on market values of equivalent instruments at the balance sheet date, comprising £1.2m assets included in trade and other receivables and £2.6m
liabilities included in trade and other payables.The fair value of currency derivatives that are designated and effective as cash flow hedges amounting to £0.7m 
has been deferred in equity.

An amount of £0.3m has been transferred to the income statement in respect of contracts matured during the period.

Interest rate swaps
The Group uses interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to interest rate movements on its bank borrowings. Contracts with an average nominal value of
$ 27.4m (£15.0m) (2004 – $ 27.0m, £14.8m) had receipts of fixed interest at an average rate of 2.28% (2004 – 2.15%) per annum and floating interest payments
at LIBOR for periods up until May 2006.

The fair value of swaps entered into at 31 December 2005 is estimated at £0.1m liability (2004 – £0.1m liability).These amounts are based on market values of
equivalent instruments at the balance sheet date. All of these interest rate swaps are designated and effective as fair value hedges. An amount of £0.1m has been
charged (2004 – £0.1m offset) against hedged interest payments made in the period.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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22. Deferred tax
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current and prior reporting period.

Accelerated Unrealised Goodwill Retirement Other
tax FX amortisation benefit temporary Tax

depreciation gains obligations differences losses Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2004 5.8 1.2 0.9 (0.4) (2.8) (3.4) 1.3
Charge (credit) to income 1.4 – 0.6 – (1.0) (1.0) –
Credit to equity – (0.1) – – – – (0.1)
Disposal of subsidiary – – – – (0.3) – (0.3)
Exchange differences (0.2) – (0.1) (0.1) 0.3 – (0.1)

At 1 January 2005 7.0 1.1 1.4 (0.5) (3.8) (4.4) 0.8
Charge (credit) to income – 0.2 0.8 (0.1) (0.4) (0.1) 0.4
Charge to equity – 0.7 – – – – 0.7
Exchange differences 0.4 – 0.2 – (0.5) – 0.1

As 31 December 2005 7.4 2.0 2.4 (0.6) (4.7) (4.5) 2.0

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset.The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting purposes:

Group Group
Year Year

ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Deferred tax liabilities 2.1 0.9
Deferred tax assets (0.1) (0.1)

2.0 0.8

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of £36.6m (2004 – £44.6m) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of £12.5m (2004 – £17.8m) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining £24.1m (2004 – £26.8m)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of £5.2m (2004 – £9.3m) that will expire within 20 years.
Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the balance sheet date, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised was £107.6m (2004 – £104.7m). No liability has been recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is in a position 
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

In addition, at the balance sheet date there were deductible temporary differences, for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised, in respect of retirement
benefit obligations of £36.7m (2004 – £38.1m), share-based payments of £1.5m (2004 – £0.8m), accelerated book depreciation of £6.2m (2004 – £4.4m) and
other temporary differences of £2.3m (2004 – £0.7m). Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these differences due to the unpredictability
of both the timing of the reversal of these temporary differences and of the future profit streams in the entities concerned.

At the balance sheet date, the Group has £5.0m (2004 – £5.0m) of surplus ACT previously written off, for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised as 
it is unlikely to be recovered in the foreseeable future due to the anticipated ongoing level of dividend payments and UK earnings.The Group also has £16.3m
(2004 – £16.3m) of unused capital losses available for offset against future capital gains for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised as no such capital
gains are anticipated to arise in the foreseeable future.
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23. Obligations under finance leases
Present value

Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments

Group Group Group Group
Year Year Year Year

ended ended ended ended
2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Amounts payable under finance leases:
Within one year 0.3 0.4 0.2 0.3
In the second to fifth years inclusive 1.0 1.1 0.7 0.7
After five years 1.1 1.3 0.9 1.1

2.4 2.8 1.8 2.1
Less: future finance charges (0.6) (0.7) – –

Present value of lease obligations 1.8 2.1 1.8 2.1

Less: amount due for settlement within 12 months (shown under current liabilities) (0.2) (0.3)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 1.6 1.8

It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its buildings and fixtures and equipment under finance leases.The most significant lease, representing approximately
73% of the Group’s obligations, expires in 2014. For the year ended 31 December 2005, the average effective borrowing rate was 6.2% (2004 – 6.2%). Interest
rates are fixed at the contract date. All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental payments.

The fair value of the Group’s lease obligations approximates their carrying amount.

The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ charges over the leased assets.

24. Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables at the balance sheet date comprise the following:

Group Group Company Company
Year Year Year Year

ended ended ended ended
2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Non-current liabilities 
Due to subsidiaries – – 29.1 46.0

– – 29.1 46.0

Current liabilities
Trade payables 36.5 30.5 0.4 0.4
Due to subsidiaries – – – 0.2
Social security and PAYE 4.7 4.6 0.1 0.1
Value added tax 0.3 0.1 – –
Foreign currency derivatives 3.3 0.7 – 0.4
Other payables and accruals 24.9 23.7 1.8 1.4

69.7 59.6 2.3 2.5

69.7 59.6 31.4 48.5

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.

The average credit period taken for trade purchases is 69 days.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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25. Issued share capital
Group and Company
Year Year

ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Authorised:
500 million ordinary shares of 10p each 50.0 50.0

Issued and fully paid
309.3 million ordinary shares of 10p each 30.9 30.7

At 31 December 2004, the issued and fully paid up share capital was 307.5 million ordinary shares of 10p each.

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.

26. Share premium account
Group and Company
Year Year

ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Balance at 1 January 3.5 3.5
Movement in year 0.3 –

Balance at 31 December 3.8 3.5

27. Equity reserve
Group and Company
Year Year

ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Balance at 1 January 0.2 0.1
Movement in year 0.2 0.1

Balance at 31 December 0.4 0.2

This reserve represents the provision being established in respect of the value of equity-settled share options and share awards.
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28. Other reserve
Group Group Company Company

Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended
2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Balances at 1 January 17.0 17.0 83.8 83.8
Transfer to retained earnings (17.0) – (83.8) –

Balance at 31 December – 17.0 – 83.8

In 1997, the Company effected a reduction of its share premium account and the simultaneous creation of a special reserve for the purpose of setting-off
goodwill arising on the consolidated balance sheet of the Group as a result of acquisitions.The reduction of capital was confirmed by the Court in accordance
with Section 135 of the Companies Act.

The special reserve was initially established with a value of £87.0m and, at Group level, in 1997 an amount of £70.0m of goodwill was set off against this.The
acquisitions giving rise to this goodwill were made by subsidiaries of the Company, not the Company itself. Hence, in the Company there was no equivalent offset
to the special reserve.

Under the terms of the undertakings given to the Court, the Company was permitted to transfer amounts equivalent to the net proceeds of subsequent capital
issues from the special reserve to the profit and loss account.This has resulted in a transfer of £3.2m over the period from July 1997 to December 2004, thereby
reducing the value of the special reserve to £83.8m in the Company.

The special reserve was considered undistributable without either the settlement, or consent, of creditors existing at the time of the reorganisations in 1997.
To the extent that such creditors have not been settled, consent has been obtained.

As goodwill arising on acquisitions is no longer written off directly to reserves, the original purpose of the account has been fulfilled and, as the undertakings to
the Court have also been fulfilled, it is now considered that the reserve represents realised profits of the Company. For presentation purposes it has therefore
been merged with retained earnings.

29. Hedging and translation reserves
a) Group

Hedging Translation Hedging Translation
reserve reserve Total reserve reserve Total

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
2005 2005 2005 2004 2004 2004

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Balance at 1 January – 0.7 0.7 – – –
Initial recognition of financial instruments (0.2) – (0.2) – – –
Exchange differences on translation of overseas operations – 2.2 2.2 – (0.5) (0.5)
Change in fair value of hedging derivatives (1.6) – (1.6) – – –
Disposal of subsidiary – – – – 0.2 0.2
Tax on items taken directly to equity – (0.7) (0.7) – 1.0 1.0

Balance at 31 December (1.8) 2.2 0.4 – 0.7 0.7

Under IAS 21 as currently endorsed by the EU, exchange differences that arise on re-translation of intercompany loans that are in a currency different to that 
of either counterparty are taken to the income statement. An amendment to IAS 21 was issued in December 2005 stating such exchange differences are to be
taken to reserves. However, the amendment has not yet been endorsed by the EU and consequently the Group has recognised a gain of £2.0m (2004 – £nil) 
in the income statement in respect of such loans. It is anticipated that the EU will endorse the amendment to the Standard in 2006 at which time the Group 
will recognise this £2.0m gain and any such future exchange differences in the translation reserve.

b) Company
Hedging Translation Hedging Translation
reserve reserve Total reserve reserve Total

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
2005 2005 2005 2004 2004 2004

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Balance at 1 January – (0.3) (0.3) – – –
Initial recognition of financial instruments (0.7) – (0.7) – – –
Exchange differences on translation – (0.1) (0.1) – (0.3) (0.3)
Increase in fair value of hedging derivatives 0.2 – 0.2 – – –

Balance at 31 December (0.5) (0.4) (0.9) – (0.3) (0.3)

Notes to the Financial Statements continued



Senior plc Annual Report 2005 page 45

30. Retained earnings
Group Group Company Company

Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended
2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Balance at 1 January 32.9 32.8 (18.1) (28.3)
Dividends paid (6.1) (6.1) (6.1) (6.1)
Net profit for the year 14.1 6.5 14.8 14.7
Pension actuarial gain/(loss) 0.2 (0.3) 0.9 1.6
Transfer from other reserves of special reserve 17.0 – 83.8 –

Balance at 31 December 58.1 32.9 75.3 (18.1)

In accordance with Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company has not presented its own income statement.

31. Own shares
Group and Company
Year Year

ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Balance at 1 January and at 31 December 1.3 1.3

The own shares reserve represents the cost of shares purchased in the market and held by the Senior plc Employee Benefit Trust to satisfy options under the
Group’s share options schemes (see Note 36).

32. Disposal of subsidiary
In August 2004, the Group’s five industrial hose operations, comprising the share capitals of Senior Flexonics Limited, Flexonics SAS, Senior Flexonics B.V.,
Teknofluor Holding A.B and the trade and assets of the US Hose Division of Senior Operations Inc, were sold.

The net assets at the date of disposal were as follows:

August
2004

£m

Property, plant and equipment 4.0
Inventories 6.1
Trade and other receivables 6.8
Bank balances and cash 0.7
Deferred tax liability (0.3)
Trade and other payables (5.6)
Bank overdraft (0.2)
Attributable goodwill 1.3
Recycled foreign exchange differences 0.2

13.0
Loss on disposal (4.8)

Total consideration 8.2

Satisfied by:
Cash 5.8
Costs (0.6)
Deferred consideration 3.0

8.2

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration 5.8
Costs (0.6)
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (0.5)

4.7

The impact on the Group’s results in the prior periods is disclosed in Note 10.
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33.Acquisitions
The amount of £0.1m (2004 – £0.2m) shown in the Group cash flow statement relates to deferred consideration payable in respect of previous acquisitions.

34. Notes to the cash flow statement
a) Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash from operating activities

Group Group Company Company
Year Year Year Year

ended ended ended ended
2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Operating profit/(loss) from continuing operations 19.6 16.6 (3.0) (2.1)
Discontinued operations profit before tax – 0.5 – –
Adjustments for :
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11.5 12.8 – 0.1
Amortisation of intangible assets 0.5 0.5 – –
Share options 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.1
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 0.2 (0.5) – –
Pension payments in excess of service cost (2.8) (4.0) (2.5) (1.4)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 29.2 26.0 (5.3) (3.3)
Increase in inventories (9.3) (4.4) – –
Increase in receivables (8.1) (3.3) – (0.3)
Increase/(decrease) in payables 7.9 3.1 (0.1) (0.4)
Working capital currency movements 2.6 (1.0) – –

Cash generated by operations 22.3 20.4 (5.4) (4.0)
Income taxes(paid)/received (0.9) 2.7 – (1.9)
Interest paid (4.9) (5.4) (5.4) (6.2)

Net cash from operating activities 16.5 17.7 (10.8) (12.1)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash 8.5 7.4 7.4 8.5
Bank overdrafts – (1.5) – –

Total 8.5 5.9 7.4 8.5

Additions to property, plant and equipment during the year amounting to £nil (2004 – £0.4m) were financed by new finance leases.

Cash and cash equivalents held by the Group and the Company (which are presented as a single class of assets on the face of the balance sheets) comprise cash
at bank and other short-term highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less.

b) Free cash flow
Free cash flow, a non statutory item, highlights the total net cash generated by the Group prior to corporate activity such as acquisitions and disposals and
transactions with shareholders. It is derived as follows:

Group Group
Year Year

ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Net cash from operating activities 16.5 17.7
Interest received 1.4 2.5
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 0.9 0.7
Purchases of property, plant and equipment – cash (16.3) (9.8)

– finances leases – (0.4)
Purchase of intangible assets (0.3) (0.2)

Free cash flow 2.2 10.5

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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34. Notes to the cash flow statement continued
c) Analysis of net debt
Group

At At
1 January Cash Non cash Exchange 31 December

2005 flow items movement 2005
£m £m £m £m £m

Cash 7.4 0.6 – 0.5 8.5
Overdrafts (1.5) 1.5 – – –

Cash and cash equivalents 5.9 2.1 – 0.5 8.5
Debt due within one year (1.1) 1.0 (0.2) 0.1 (0.2)
Debt due after one year (52.6) (7.1) (0.3) (6.3) (66.3)
Finance leases (2.1) 0.3 – – (1.8)
Forward exchange contract losses (0.7) 0.2 – (2.1) (2.6)

Total (50.6) (3.5) (0.5) (7.8) (62.4)

Debt due within one year shown above includes short-term bank borrowings of £nil (1 January 2005 – £1.1m).

The forward exchange contract losses shown above are reported as £2.8m (2004 – £0.7m) in current liabilities within trade and other payables and £0.2m
(2004 – £nil) in current assets within trade and other receivables.

Non cash items shown above relate to the recognition of financial instruments under IAS 39.

Additions to property, plant and equipment during the period of £nil (2004 – £0.4m) were financed by new finance leases.

35. Operating lease arrangements
The Group and the Company as lessee

Group Group Company Company
Year Year Year Year

ended ended ended ended
2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised 
in the Consolidated Income Statement for the year 3.9 3.9 0.2 0.2

At the balance sheet date, the Group and the Company had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases, which fall due as follows:

Group Group Company Company
Year Year Year Year

ended ended ended ended
2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Within one year 3.6 3.2 0.2 0.2
In the second to fifth years inclusive 10.9 9.8 0.6 0.6
After five years 15.7 15.0 0.3 0.5

30.2 28.0 1.1 1.3

Operating lease payments principally represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its manufacturing properties.The leases with the two largest
outstanding commitments, representing 59% of the Group’s commitment, expire in 2018 and 2026, with rentals fixed for 2.5 years and 1 year respectively.

The Company has guaranteed £1.4m (2004 – £1.4m) of annual lease commitments of certain current and previous subsidiary entities.
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36. Share-based payments
The Group and Company recognised total expenses of £0.2m (2004 – £0.1m) related to share-based payments, of which £0.2m (2004 – £0.1m) related to
equity-settled share-based payments.

(i) 1999 Executive Share Option Plan
Equity-settled share option plans
Under the 1999 Executive Share Option Plan, options will normally only become exercisable if the Group’s Adjusted Earnings per Share grows by not less than
4% per annum compound above the growth in the UK Retail Price Index (RPI) over a period of three or more financial years commencing in January of the year
of grant.They will lapse if not exercised within six years of the date of grant. Options are exercisable at a price equal to the average of the closing mid-market
price of the Company’s shares in the three days prior to the date of grant. No options were granted or exercised under the 1999 Executive Share Option Plan
during the year.The following options were outstanding as at 31 December 2005 and 2004:

Year ended 2005 Year ended 2004
W eighted Weighted

Number average Number average 
of share exercise of share exercise
options price options price

Outstanding at 1 January 11,023,221 38.92p 12,602,246 39.88p
Granted – – – –
Exercised – – – –
Forfeited (1,253,196) 35.94p (1,579,025) 46.57p
Expired (420,587) 154.35p – –

Outstanding at 31 December 9,349,438 34.13p 11,023,221 38.92p

Exercisable at 31 December – n/a – n/a

The options outstanding at 31 December 2005 had exercise prices ranging from 23.08p – 82.50p per share, and a weighted average remaining contractual life 
of 2.3 years.The options outstanding at 31 December 2004 had exercise prices ranging from 23.08p – 154.35p per share, and a weighted average remaining
contractual life of 3.2 years.

Cash-settled share option plans
Under the 1999 Executive Share Option Plan, shadow options have been granted to certain employees.These are subject to the same general terms and
conditions as the above equity-settled options, however, on exercise the holder is entitled to receive an amount equal to the difference between the exercise
price and the then market value of the shares in relation to which the shadow option is exercised. No shadow options were granted or exercised under the
1999 Executive Share Option Plan during the year. Shadow share options over 237,941 shares were outstanding as at 31 December 2005 and 2004 with an
exercise price of 23.08p per share and a remaining contractual life of 3.2 years (2004 – 4.2 years).

(ii) 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan
1,596,241 shares were awarded under the 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan on 20 May 2005. Awards under this plan have a three year vesting period, subject to
earnings per share (EPS) and total shareholder return (TSR) performance condition being met. Half the awards have an attaching performance target for EPS
growth over the three year performance period of at least 5% per annum above the RPI.The other half of the awards begin to vest if the Company’s TSR falls 
in the top half of a comparator group at the end of the three year performance period.Vesting levels increase with higher performance.The awards are settled
by delivering shares to the participant.

The estimated fair value for the awards with EPS conditions is 34.00p per share, which is essentially the share price at the date of grant of 40.25p per share less
an allowance for dividends foregone over the three year vesting period.The estimated fair value for the awards with TSR conditions is 15.90p per share, reflecting
an adjustment of 47% to the fair value of the awards with EPS conditions due to the stringent TSR condition.

These fair values were calculated by applying a binomial option pricing model.This model incorporates a technique called “bootstrapping”, which models the
impact of the TSR condition.The model inputs at the date of grant were the share price of 40.25p, a risk free interest rate of 4.3% per annum, expected volatility
of 46.0% per annum, net dividend yield of 5.5% per annum, and the performance conditions as noted above. Expected volatility was determined by calculating
the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous three years.

(iii) Long Term Share Incentive Plan
The award of 870,000 shares made under the Long Term Share Incentive Plan in October 2001 lapsed during the period as the EPS performance criteria of 
at least 3% per annum growth above RPI over the four year period had not been achieved.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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36. Share-based payments continued
(iv) Savings Related Share Option Plan
The Company operates a Savings Related Share Option Plan for eligible employees across the Group.There are no performance criteria for this arrangement
and options are issued to all participants in accordance with the Inland Revenue rules for such savings plans. No such options have been awarded since 
6 September 2002.The following options were outstanding as at 31 December 2005 and 2004:

Year ended 2005 Year ended 2004
Weighted Weighted

Number average Number average 
of share exercise of share exercise
options price options price

Outstanding at 1 January 4,656,280 30.11p 6,446,249 33.83p
Granted – – – –
Exercised (1,834,994) 26.38p (65,159) 25.25p
Forfeited (370,403) 31.45p (864,226) 34.97p
Expired (540,803) 48.21p (860,584) 53.44p

Outstanding at 31 December 1,910,080 28.31p 4,656,280 30.11p

Exercisable at 31 December 568,033 28.24p 543,015 48.39p

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was 53.53p (2004 – 39.76p).The options outstanding 
at 31 December 2005 had exercise prices ranging from 25.25p – 43.50p per share, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.7 years.The options
outstanding at 31 December 2004 had exercise prices ranging from 25.25p – 91.50p per share, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.9 years.

37. Retirement benefit schemes
The Group operates a number of pension plans in the UK, North America and Europe.These include both defined contribution arrangements and defined benefit
arrangements.The largest defined benefit arrangement for the Group and Company, the Senior plc Pension Plan, is a funded scheme in the UK, providing benefits
based on final pensionable emoluments for the employees of the Group and Company.The latest full actuarial valuation was carried out as at 5 April 2004 and,
for the purposes of accounting under IAS 19, this valuation has been rolled forward to 31 December 2005.

In addition, the Group operates three defined benefit schemes in the USA. Separate disclosure is made for the funded UK and US defined benefit arrangements.
In both the UK and the USA the assets of funded schemes are held in separate trustee administered funds managed by independent financial institutions and
have pension costs assessed by consulting actuaries using the projected unit method.

The Group also has a small number of unfunded post-retirement plans, including a closed healthcare scheme in the US. Separate disclosure is provided for
these arrangements.

The Group has early adopted amendments to disclosures under IAS 19.

a) Defined Contribution Schemes
The Group has a number of different defined contribution and government sponsored arrangements in place in the countries in which it operates. None of
these are individually material to the Group and the aggregate cost of such schemes for the period was £2.2m (2004 – £2.2m).

b) Defined Benefit Schemes
The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of its defined benefit schemes is as follows:

31 December 2005 31 December 2004

UK plans US plans Unfunded UK plans US plans Unfunded
funded funded plans Total funded funded plans Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Present value of defined
benefit obligations (165.7) (23.2) (3.7) (192.6) (150.9) (19.8) (3.5) (174.2)
Fair value of plan assets 134.4 18.3 – 152.7 117.2 15.6 – 132.8

Plan deficit
per balance sheet (31.3) (4.9) (3.7) (39.9) (33.7) (4.2) (3.5) (41.4)



Senior plc Annual Report 2005page 50

37. Retirement benefit schemes continued
c) Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

31 December 2005 31 December 2004

UK plans US plans Unfunded UK plans US plans Unfunded
funded funded plans Total funded funded plans Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 150.9 19.8 3.5 174.2 146.2 18.8 3.3 168.3
Current service costs 1.2 0.5 0.1 1.8 1.4 0.4 0.1 1.9
Interest cost 8.1 1.2 0.2 9.5 8.0 1.1 0.2 9.3
Contributions by plan participants 0.7 – – 0.7 0.8 – – 0.8
Actuarial losses 10.2 0.2 0.4 10.8 0.2 1.4 0.2 1.8
Benefits paid (5.4) (0.9) (0.4) (6.7) (5.7) (0.8) (0.3) (6.8)
Past service cost – – – – – 0.1 – 0.1
Exchange – 2.4 (0.1) 2.3 – (1.2) – (1.2)

At 31 December 165.7 23.2 3.7 192.6 150.9 19.8 3.5 174.2

d) Movements in the fair value of plan assets were as follows:

31 December 2005 31 December 2004

UK plans US plans Unfunded UK plans US plans Unfunded
funded funded plans Total funded funded plans Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 117.2 15.6 – 132.8 110.5 13.6 – 124.1
Expected return on plan assets 7.1 1.3 – 8.4 7.0 1.1 – 8.1
Actuarial gains/(losses) 11.1 (0.1) – 11.0 1.8 (0.3) – 1.5
Contributions from employer 3.7 0.5 – 4.2 2.8 2.9 – 5.7
Contributions by plan participants 0.7 – – 0.7 0.8 – – 0.8
Benefits paid (5.4) (0.9) – (6.3) (5.7) (0.8) – (6.5)
Exchange – 1.9 – 1.9 – (0.9) – (0.9)

At 31 December 134.4 18.3 – 152.7 117.2 15.6 – 132.8

e) Amounts recognised in income in respect of these defined benefit schemes are as follows:

31 December 2005 31 December 2004

UK plans US plans Unfunded UK plans US plans Unfunded
funded funded plans Total funded funded plans Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Current service cost 1.2 0.5 0.1 1.8 1.4 0.4 0.1 1.9
Past service cost – – – – – 0.1 – 0.1

Included within 
operating profit 1.2 0.5 0.1 1.8 1.4 0.5 0.1 2.0

Interest cost 8.1 1.2 0.2 9.5 8.0 1.1 0.2 9.3
Expected return on 
plan assets (7.1) (1.3) – (8.4) (7.0) (1.1) – (8.1)

Included within finance costs 1.0 (0.1) 0.2 1.1 1.0 – 0.2 1.2

2.2 0.4 0.3 2.9 2.4 0.5 0.3 3.2

Of the current and past service cost for the year, £1.2m (2004 – £1.2m) has been included in cost of sales, and £0.6m (2004 – £0.8m) has been included in
administrative expenses.

Actuarial gains of £0.2m (2004 – £0.3m losses) have been recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense.The cumulative amount of actuarial
losses recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense as at 31 December 2005 is £0.1m (2004 – £0.3m).
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37. Retirement benefit schemes continued
f ) Assets and assumptions in funded plans

UK plans funded US plans funded
2005 2004 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

Fair value of plan assets 
Equities 78.0 66.4 12.6 10.1
Bonds 11.3 20.5 5.0 4.4
Gilts 44.8 29.7 – –
Properties & other 0.3 0.6 0.7 1.1

Total 134.4 117.2 18.3 15.6

Actual return on plan assets 18.2 8.8 1.2 0.8

Major Assumptions (per annum %)
Inflation 2.6% 2.6% 2.5% 2.5%
Increase in salaries 3.6% 3.6% 4.0% 4.0%
Increase in pensions 2.6% 2.6% 0.0% 0.0%
Increase in deferred pensions 2.6% 2.6% 0.0% 0.0%
Rate used to discount plan liabilities 5.0% 5.4% 5.9% 6.0%
Expected return on assets 5.6% 6.1% 8.0% 8.0%

Life expectancy of a male aged 65 in 2005 18.6 18.6 16.7 16.7

The expected rate of return on assets is calculated as a weighted average rate of return on each asset class.Where such rates are not available in the market,
the expected rate of return for each asset class is calculated by giving consideration to inflation, the risk-free rate of return (based on government gilts/securities),
and the risk premium (expected return in excess of the risk-free rate).The market provides implied forecasts of both the inflation rate and the risk-free rate.
The risk premium is based primarily on historical data adjusted to reflect any systemic changes that have occurred in the relevant markets.

The estimated amounts of contributions expected to be paid during 2006 to the UK Plan is £4.2m (£3.0m of which is additional to normal contributions 
to fund the past service deficit) and to the US Funded Plans is £1.0m (all of which is discretionary).

g) Other Post-Retirement Liabilities
This balance comprises an unfunded German pension plan £2.4m (2004 – £2.2m), unfunded closed pension and post-retirement healthcare plans in the US
£0.5m (2004 – £0.4m) and provision for post-retirement payments in France of £0.8m (2004 – £0.9m).

The closed pension and post-retirement healthcare plans in the US have been valued on a projected unit method with the following assumptions: discount rate 5.9%,
and annual healthcare cost trend rate of 8.0%, reducing to 4.0% in 2014.The effect of a 1% increase or decrease in the healthcare cost trend rate is negligible to
the Group’s results.The German plan has been subject to formal actuarial valuation on a projected unit method with the following assumptions: discount rate 4.0%,
salary growth 2.0% and inflation 1.5%. In France, the provision arises from a legal obligation to make payments to retirees in the first two years post-retirement.
Hence, it is not subject to discounting to the same extent as the other longer term post-retirement liabilities.
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37. Retirement benefit schemes continued
h) History of experience gains and losses

2005 2004
UK plan funded £m £m

Present value of defined benefit obligations (165.7) (150.9)
Fair value of plan assets 134.4 117.2

Plan deficit (31.3) (33.7)

Experience gain on plan liabilities 0.3 6.1
Experience gain on plan assets 11.1 1.8

2005 2004
US plan funded £m £m

Present value of defined benefit obligations (23.2) (19.8)
Fair value of plan assets 18.3 15.6

Plan deficit (4.9) (4.2)

Experience loss on plan liabilities (0.1) (0.8)
Experience loss on plan assets (0.1) (0.3)

2005 2004
Unfunded plans £m £m

Present value of defined benefit obligations (3.7) (3.5)
Fair value of plan assets – –

Plan deficit (3.7) (3.5)

Experience gain/(loss) on plan liabilities – –

The Group has applied the exemption under IFRS 1 to only disclose amounts as they are determined for each accounting period prospectively from the 
transition date.

38. Events after the balance sheet date
On 27 January 2006, the Group acquired Sterling Machine Co., Inc., a manufacturer of precision machined parts for the aerospace industry, based in Enfield,
Connecticut, USA.The cash consideration, including assumed net debt, was £21.4m including costs of which £1.2m related to the purchase of property.The
acquisition was funded in part by a placing of 5m ordinary shares generating net proceeds of £8.8m, the balance being funded by the Group’s existing revolving
credit facilities.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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39. Explanation of transition to IFRS
This is the first year that the Group and the Company have presented their financial statements under IFRS.The following disclosures are required in the year of
transition.The last financial statements under UK GAAP were for the year ended 31 December 2004 and the date of transition was therefore 1 January 2004.

a) Reconciliation of equity at 1 January 2004 (date of transition to IFRS)

Notes Group Group Group Company Company Company
UK GAAP adjustment IFRS UK GAAP adjustment IFRS

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Non-current assets
Goodwill 76.7 – 76.7 – – –
Intangible assets (i) – 1.6 1.6 – – –
Investments in subsidiaries – – – 30.3 – 30.3
Property, plant and equipment (i) 79.1 (1.6) 77.5 0.2 – 0.2
Deferred tax assets 0.1 – 0.1 – – –
Financial assets 1.0 – 1.0 396.5 – 396.5

Total non-current assets 156.9 – 156.9 427.0 – 427.0

Current assets
Inventories 40.1 – 40.1 – – –
Construction contracts 4.9 – 4.9 – – –
Trade and other receivables 62.0 – 62.0 1.4 – 1.4
Cash and cash equivalents 11.6 – 11.6 1.5 – 1.5

Total current assets 118.6 – 118.6 2.9 – 2.9

Total assets 275.5 – 275.5 429.9 – 429.9

Liabilities
Trade and other payables (ii) 65.6 (4.1) 61.5 226.5 (4.1) 222.4
Current tax liabilities 6.0 – 6.0 2.1 – 2.1
Obligations under finance leases 2.0 – 2.0 – – –
Interest bearing loans 77.1 – 77.1 81.2 – 81.2
Retirement benefit obligations (iii) 44.0 0.2 44.2 – 35.7 35.7
Deferred tax liabilities (iv) 0.8 0.6 1.4 – – –
Others 0.5 – 0.5 – – –

Total liabilities 196.0 (3.3) 192.7 309.8 31.6 341.4

Total assets less total liabilities 79.5 3.3 82.8 120.1 (31.6) 88.5

Equity
Issued share capital 30.7 – 30.7 30.7 – 30.7
Share premium account 3.5 – 3.5 3.5 – 3.5
Equity reserve (v) – 0.1 0.1 – 0.1 0.1
Other reserve (vi) 17.7 (0.7) 17.0 83.8 – 83.8
Hedging and translation reserve (vi) – – – – – –
Retained earnings (vi) 28.9 3.9 32.8 3.4 (31.7) (28.3)
Own shares (1.3) – (1.3) (1.3) – (1.3)

Total equity 79.5 3.3 82.8 120.1 (31.6) 88.5



Senior plc Annual Report 2005page 54

39. Explanation of transition to IFRS continued
Notes to the reconciliation of equity at 1 January 2004
(i) Intangible assets
IFRS requires computer software to be recorded as an intangible asset and amortised over its useful life. Accordingly, £1.6m of net book value has been transferred
from within plant and equipment to intangible assets.

(ii) Dividends
Under UK GAAP, any dividend proposed in respect of a year is recognised in the profit and loss account and provided for in the closing balance sheet. Under
IFRS, a declared dividend does not constitute an adjusting post balance sheet event. Hence, the provision for the final dividend of £4.1m at the end of 2003
under UK GAAP has been reversed under IFRS.

(iii) Retirement benefit obligations
The Group implemented FRS 17 under UK GAAP. IFRS requires that invested assets be valued at bid price, rather than at mid-price as required under UK GAAP,
by FRS 17.This revaluation causes the assets held by the funded plans to reduce in value by £0.2m, and consequently the net balance sheet pension deficit to
increase by the same amount. Under FRS 17 the pension deficits were held on consolidation rather than being attributed to any specific company. IFRS
requires that deficits are attributed and hence the UK plan deficit is recorded in the Company, which is the sponsoring employer to the plan.The £35.7m
liability is based on the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of the plan assets.

(iv) Deferred tax
IFRS changes the focus of deferred tax from the income statement to the balance sheet and to the differences between the book value and tax base of assets
and liabilities. Under IFRS, deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences, albeit that deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that they may 
be regarded as recoverable.The Group has recognised a net increase in deferred tax liabilities of £0.6m relating to the taxation of deferred foreign exchange
gains arising in overseas territories.

(v) Share-based payments
Under IFRS there is an aggregate provision of £nil in respect of cash-settled share option plans, and a provision of £0.1m in respect of equity-settled share
option plans.

(vi) Share capital and reserves
In line with the available exemptions in IFRS 1, the cumulative translation differences were set to zero at the transition date. Also, as allowed under IFRS 1 exemptions,
the existing UK GAAP value of property, plant and equipment was taken as the deemed cost for IFRS. Hence, the revaluation reserve has been reset to zero,
with the previous balance of £0.7m having been transferred to the retained earnings reserve.

b) Reconciliation of equity at 31 December 2004 (date of last UK GAAP financial statements)

Notes Group Group Group Company Company Company
UK GAAP adjustment IFRS UK GAAP adjustment IFRS

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Non-current assets
Goodwill (i) 68.0 5.1 73.1 – – –
Intangible assets (ii) – 1.2 1.2 – – –
Property, plant and equipment (ii) 70.0 (1.2) 68.8 0.1 – 0.1
Investments in subsidiaries – – – 30.3 – 30.3
Deferred tax assets 0.1 – 0.1 – – –
Financial assets 3.8 – 3.8 191.0 – 191.0

Total non-current assets 141.9 5.1 147.0 221.4 – 221.4

Current assets
Inventories 38.4 – 38.4 – – –
Construction contracts 4.5 – 4.5 – – –
Trade and other receivables 55.5 – 55.5 3.1 – 3.1
Cash and cash equivalents 7.4 – 7.4 8.5 – 8.5

Total current assets 105.8 – 105.8 11.6 – 11.6

Total assets 247.7 5.1 252.8 233.0 – 233.0

Liabilities
Trade and other payables (iii) 63.7 (4.1) 59.6 52.2 (4.1) 48.1
Current tax liabilities 9.5 – 9.5 0.2 – 0.2
Obligations under finance leases 2.1 – 2.1 – – –
Interest bearing loans 55.2 – 55.2 52.5 – 52.5
Retirement benefit obligations (iv) 41.2 0.2 41.4 – 33.7 33.7
Deferred tax liabilities (v) 0.4 0.5 0.9 – – –
Others (vi) 0.3 0.1 0.4 – – –

Total liabilities 172.4 (3.3) 169.1 104.9 29.6 134.5

Total assets less total liabilities 75.3 8.4 83.7 128.1 (29.6) 98.5

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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39. Explanation of transition to IFRS continued
Notes Group Group Group Company Company Company

UK GAAP adjustment IFRS UK GAAP adjustment IFRS
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Equity
Issued share capital 30.7 – 30.7 30.7 – 30.7
Share premium account 3.5 – 3.5 3.5 – 3.5
Equity reserve (vii) – 0.2 0.2 – 0.2 0.2
Other reserve (viii) 17.7 (0.7) 17.0 83.8 – 83.8
Hedging and translation reserve (viii) – 0.7 0.7 – (0.3) (0.3)
Retained earnings (viii) 24.7 8.2 32.9 11.4 (29.5) (18.1)
Own shares (1.3) – (1.3) (1.3) – (1.3)

Total equity 75.3 8.4 83.7 128.1 (29.6) 98.5

Notes to the reconciliation of equity at 31 December 2004
(i) Goodwill amortisation
Under UK GAAP, goodwill arising on acquisitions subsequent to 1 January 1998 was capitalised and amortised over a period of up to 20 years. Under IFRS,
goodwill is held at its carrying value (the UK GAAP net book value as at 31 December 2003) and subjected to annual impairment testing. Hence the goodwill
amortisation charge of £5.1m has been reversed, leading to an equivalent increase in the goodwill value on the balance sheet at the end of 2004 under IFRS.

(ii) Intangible assets
IFRS requires computer software to be recorded as an intangible asset and amortised over its useful life. Accordingly, £1.2m of net book value has been
transferred from within plant and equipment to intangible assets.

(iii) Dividends
Under UK GAAP, any dividend proposed in respect of a year is recognised in the profit and loss account and provided for in the closing balance sheet. Under
IFRS, a declared dividend does not constitute an adjusting post balance sheet event. Hence, the provision for the final dividend of £4.1m at the end of 2004
under UK GAAP has been reversed under IFRS.

(iv) Retirement benefit obligations
The Group implemented FRS 17 under UK GAAP. IFRS requires that invested assets be valued at bid price, rather than at mid-price as required under 
UK GAAP, by FRS 17.This revaluation causes the assets held by the funded plans to reduce in value by £0.2m, and consequently the net balance sheet pension
deficit to increase by the same amount. Under FRS 17 the pension deficits were held on consolidation rather than being attributed to any specific company.
IFRS requires that deficits are attributed and hence the UK plan deficit is recorded in the Company, which is the sponsoring employer to the plan.The £33.7m
liability is based on the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of the plan assets.

(v) Deferred tax
IFRS changes the focus of deferred tax from the income statement to the balance sheet and to the differences between the book value and tax base of assets
and liabilities. Under IFRS, deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences, albeit that deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that they may 
be regarded as recoverable.The Group has recognised a net increase in deferred tax liabilities of £0.5m relating to the taxation of deferred foreign exchange
gains arising in overseas territories.

(vi) Liabilities
IFRS requires that the charge to the income statement for operating leases is adjusted to take account of fixed inflationary elements over the period of a lease
instead of when the payment is made. An additional £0.1m charge has been made in 2004, resulting in an additional accrual of the same amount.

(vii) Share-based payments
Under IFRS, there is an aggregate provision of £nil in respect of cash-settled share option plans, and a provision of £0.2m in respect of equity-settled share
option plans.

(viii) Share capital and reserves
As stated above in part a) of Note 39, the cumulative translation differences were set to zero at the transition date. An amount of £0.7m has arisen in the year.
Also, as stated in part a) of Note 39 above, the existing UK GAAP value of property, plant and equipment was taken as the deemed cost for IFRS. Hence, the
revaluation reserve has been reset to zero, with the previous balance of £0.7m having been transferred to the retained earnings reserve.

The Group and Company adjustment to retained earnings reserve is as shown below:

Group Company
£m £m

Opening adjustments 3.9 (31.7)
Profit for the period 13.4 0.3
Goodwill on Hose disposal (8.7) –
Pension actuarial gain – 1.6
Transfer from hedging and translation reserve (0.4) 0.3

8.2 (29.5)
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39. Explanation of transition to IFRS continued
c) Reconciliation of income statement for the year ended 31 December 2004 

Notes Group Company
UK GAAP Group Group UK GAAP Company Company

reformatted adjustment IFRS reformatted adjustment IFRS
2004 2004 2004 2004 2004 2004

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Continuing operations
Revenue 306.8 – 306.8 – – –

Trading profit/(loss) (i), (ii), (v) 16.9 (0.3) 16.6 (3.4) 1.3 (2.1)
Amortisation of goodwill (iii) (5.1) 5.1 – – – –

Operating profit/(loss) 11.8 4.8 16.6 (3.4) 1.3 (2.1)

Dividends receivable – – – 14.2 – 14.2
Interest receivable (iv) 2.2 (0.1) 2.1 10.0 (0.1) 9.9
Interest payable and similar charges (iv) (5.1) 0.1 (5.0) (6.2) 0.1 (6.1)
Finance cost of net pension liability (v) (1.2) – (1.2) – (1.0) (1.0)

Profit before taxation 7.7 4.8 12.5 14.6 0.3 14.9
Taxation (vi) (1.7) 0.1 (1.6) (0.2) – (0.2)

Profit for the period from 
continuing operations 6.0 4.9 10.9 14.4 0.3 14.7

Discontinued operations
Profit from operations before taxation (i) 0.4 0.1 0.5
Taxation (vi) – (0.1) (0.1)
Loss on disposal (vii) (13.3) 8.5 (4.8)

Loss for the period from 
discontinued operations (12.9) 8.5 (4.4)

Profit for the period (6.9) 13.4 6.5

Notes to the reconciliation of income statement for the year ended 31 December 2004
(i) Trading profit
Trading profit of continuing businesses for the Group is reduced by £0.1m, which is offset by the equivalent improvement in discontinued businesses.This relates
to £0.1m of central cost previously allocated to discontinued operations. Central costs will now be disclosed separately within the segmental analysis, rather than
being allocated to segments as occurred previously under UK GAAP.Trading profit for the Group is further reduced by £0.1m by the additional operating lease
charge, as stated in Note 39 b)(vi).

(ii) Share-based payments
Share-based payment arrangements exist in relation to share and share option schemes offered to senior management. Share options were issued in March
2003 and it is considered that these may ultimately vest. No cost was included in UK GAAP accounts as the intrinsic value was nil. A cost of £0.1m has been
included in the IFRS financial statements for the Group and Company.This expense has been based on the fair value at the date of the award, as calculated
according to the Black-Scholes pricing model.

(iii) Goodwill amortisation
Under UK GAAP, goodwill arising on acquisitions subsequent to 1 January 1998 was capitalised and amortised over a period of up to 20 years. Under IFRS,
goodwill is held at its carrying value (the UK GAAP net book value as at 31 December 2003) and subjected to annual impairment testing. Hence the goodwill
amortisation charge of £5.1m for 2004 under UK GAAP has been reversed for IFRS purposes.

(iv) Interest receivable and interest payable
A benefit of £0.1m arising from interest rate swap agreements was previously shown as interest receivable.This has now been offset against the related interest
payable amount.

(v) Retirement benefit obligations
Under FRS 17, as the Company did not record the deficit in its balance sheet, its profit and loss charge reflected only the cash contributions to the UK plan
(£1.6m) and not the net finance cost. Under IFRS the operating cost includes only the service cost (£0.2m) and the net finance cost (£1.0m).

(vi) Tax charge
The tax charge has been analysed between that attributable to continuing operations and that attributable to discontinued operations.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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39. Explanation of transition to IFRS continued
(vii) Loss on disposal of discontinued operations
Under UK GAAP, goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1 January 1998 was written off directly to equity.When such a company was subsequently disposed,
the goodwill was “recycled” through the profit and loss account as part of the profit or loss on disposal.There is no such requirement under IFRS. Hence, the 
UK GAAP loss is reduced by £8.7m. Additionally, IFRS requires cumulative translation differences to be recognised in the disposal transaction.These amount to
£0.2m, making the aggregate adjustment £8.5m.

d) Explanation of material adjustments to the cash flow statements for 2004 

Income taxes received by the Group of £2.7m and interest payments of £5.4m are classified as part of operating cashflows under IFRS, but were included 
in separate categories under UK GAAP. There are no other material differences between the cash flow statement presented under IFRS and the cash flow
statement presented under UK GAAP.

40. Related party transactions
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, are set out below. These eliminate on consolidation.

Year Year
ended ended
2005 2004

£m £m

Transactions in year
Management charges 0.2 0.7
Dividends receivable 14.3 14.2
Interest receivable 8.3 9.6
Interest payable (0.6) (1.5)
Balances at year-end
Investments in subsidiaries 92.0 30.3
Amounts due from subsidiaries 134.5 192.9
Amounts due to subsidiaries 29.1 46.2

The management and interest charges are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions.

The remuneration of the Directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 10 to 15.
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IFRS UK GAAP

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Group income statement £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue
Continuing operations 338.6 306.8 322.9 368.4 411.7
Discontinued operations – 19.1 32.0 36.0 52.0

338.6 325.9 354.9 404.4 463.7

Operating profit before impairment and amortisation of goodwill
Continuing operations 19.6 16.6 17.8 23.0 31.2
Discontinued operations – 0.5 1.1 (0.1) 0.4

19.6 17.1 18.9 22.9 31.6
Impairment of goodwill – – – – (4.0)
Amortisation of goodwill – – (5.4) (5.8) (6.2)

Operating profit 19.6 17.1 13.5 17.1 21.4
Share of operating profit in associate net 
of amortisation of goodwill – – – – 0.2
Exchange gain on long-term intercompany loan 2.0 – – – –
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations – (4.8) – (3.5) (2.3)
Investment income/finance costs, net (3.9) (2.9) (4.9) (6.6) (9.8)
Net finance cost of retirement benefit obligations (1.1) (1.2) (2.2) – –

Profit before tax 16.6 8.2 6.4 7.0 9.5
Tax (2.5) (1.7) (1.8) (3.1) (5.1)

Profit for the year 14.1 6.5 4.6 3.9 4.4

Depreciation and software amortisation 12.0 13.3 16.1 17.8 18.4

Gross capital expenditure (including finance lease assets) 16.6 10.4 8.0 13.1 16.5

Basic earnings per share 4.59p 2.12p 1.50p 1.29p 1.46p

Diluted earnings per share 4.51p 2.09p 1.49p 1.29p 1.45p

Adjusted earnings per share 4.01p 3.59p 3.13p 4.47p 5.51p

Dividends in respect of year – per share 2.00p 2.00p 2.00p 2.00p 2.00p

– value 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1

Group balance sheets

Non-current assets 158.2 147.0 155.8 175.7 201.3
Net current assets 44.4 33.8 41.8 45.8 53.8
Non-current liabilities (110.3) (97.1) (118.1) (100.2) (130.0)

Net assets 92.3 83.7 79.5 121.3 125.1

Net borrowings (62.4) (50.6) (64.2) (87.4) (122.7)

Gearing, net 67.6% 60.5% 80.8% 72.0% 98.1%

Group cash flow

Net cash from operating activities 16.5 17.7 25.9 36.3 43.5
Interest received 1.4 2.5 1.2 0.6 0.7
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 0.9 0.7 1.1 1.4 0.9
Purchase of property, plant and equipment – cash (16.3) (9.8) (8.0) (11.6) (16.5)

– finance leases – (0.4) – (1.5) –
Purchase of intangible assets (0.3) (0.2) – – –

Free cash flow 2.2 10.5 20.2 25.2 28.6
Dividends paid (6.1) (6.1) (6.1) (2.5) (15.0)
Acquisitions less disposals (0.1) 4.5 0.4 2.2 11.5
Dividend income from associate – – – – 0.2
Share issues 0.5 – – – –
Increase/(decrease) in loans 6.1 (18.9) (14.8) (32.2) (25.3)
(Decrease)/increase in finance leases (0.3) 0.1 (0.3) 1.4 –
Cash (outflow)/inflow on forward contracts (0.2) 4.5 4.5 0.2 –

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2.1 (5.4) 3.9 (5.7) –

The amounts disclosed for 2003 and earlier periods are stated on the basis of UK GAAP because it is not practicable to restate amounts for periods prior 
to the date of transition to IFRS.The principal differences between UK GAAP and IFRS are explained in Note 39 to the financial statements.

The figures for 2003 have been restated to reflect changes in accounting policies relating to retirement benefits and ESOP trusts following the adoption in 2004
of Financial Reporting Standard No.17 and UITF 38. Earlier years have not been restated.

Five Year Summary
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Operating companies Business units Locations

Senior Hargreaves Limited Senior Hargreaves Bury
(incorporated in England and Wales)

Senior UK Limited Senior Automotive – Crumlin Crumlin
(incorporated in England and Wales) Senior Aerospace – BWT Macclesfield

Senior Aerospace – Bird Bellows Congleton

Senior Operations Inc. Senior Automotive – Bartlett Bartlett, Illinois
(incorporated in Delaware, USA) Senior Flexonics – Pathway New Braunfels,Texas

Senior Aerospace – Metal Bellows Sharon, Massachusetts
Senior Aerospace – SSP Burbank, California
Senior Aerospace – Composites Wichita, Kansas
Senior Aerospace – Ketema El Cajon, California
Senior Aerospace – Ketema Saltillo, Mexico
Senior Aerospace – Jet Products San Diego, California

Sterling Machine Co., Inc.* Senior Aerospace – Sterling Machine Enfield, Connecticut
(incorporated in Connecticut, USA)

Senior Operations (Canada) Limited Senior Flexonics – Canada Brampton, Ontario
(incorporated in Canada)

Senior Berghofer GmbH Senior Automotive – Kassel Kassel, Germany
(incorporated in Germany)

Senior Automotive Czech s.r.o. Senior Automotive – Olomouc Olomouc, Czech Republic
(incorporated in the Czech Republic)

Senior Aerospace Ermeto SAS Senior Aerospace – Ermeto Blois, France
(incorporated in France)

Senior Automotive Blois SAS Senior Automotive – Blois Blois, France
(incorporated in France)

Senior Calorstat SAS Senior Aerospace – Calorstat Dourdan, France
(incorporated in France)

Senior Aerospace Bosman B.V. Senior Aerospace – Bosman Rotterdam, Holland
(incorporated in Holland)

Senior Automotive S.A. (Pty) Limited Senior Automotive – Cape Town Cape Town, South Africa
(incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

Senior do Brasil Ltda. Senior Automotive – Sao Paulo Sao Paulo, Brazil
(incorporated in Brazil)

Senior India Private Limited Senior Automotive – New Delhi New Delhi, India
(incorporated in India)

Senior Investments AG Schaffhausen, Switzerland
(incorporated in Switzerland)

* Sterling Machine Co., Inc. was acquired on 27 January 2006.

All Group undertakings are wholly and directly owned by subsidiary undertakings of Senior plc and in every case the principal country of operation is the
country of incorporation.

Principal Group Undertakings
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Additional Shareholder Information

Analysis of Shareholders at 31 December 2005
Shareholders Shareholders Shareholdings Shareholdings

number % millions %

By Category
Corporate bodies 982 23.93 293.36 94.85
Other shareholders 3,122 76.07 15.93 5.15

4,104 100.00 309.29 100.00

By Range of Holdings
1 – 24,999 3,752 91.43 15.19 4.91
25,000 – 49,999 110 2.68 3.75 1.21
50,000 – 249,999 135 3.29 13.22 4.28
250,000 – 499,999 34 0.83 12.03 3.89
500,000 – 999,999 24 0.58 17.73 5.73
1,000,000 – and over 49 1.19 247.37 79.98

4,104 100.00 309.29 100.00

The number of shares in issue at 31 December 2005 was 309,285,740.

Share Registrars
All shareholder records are maintained by Lloyds TSB Registrars and all correspondence should be addressed to the Registrar, Senior plc at the Lloyds TSB
Registrars’ address shown on the facing page, quoting the reference number starting with 0228 detailed on your dividend vouchers.The Registrar should be
notified regarding changes to name or address, loss of either share certificate or dividend warrant, or request for, or change to, a dividend mandate.

Lloyds TSB Registrars provide a range of shareholder information on-line. Shareholders can check their holdings, update details and obtain practical help on
transferring shares at: www.shareview.co.uk

Instead of payment by post to your registered address, dividends can be paid through the BACS system direct into a UK bank or building society account, with
the dividend voucher still sent to your registered address. If you wish to use this facility and have not previously applied, then please apply direct to Lloyds TSB
Registrars and request a dividend mandate form. Shareholders who are currently receiving duplicate sets of Company mailings, as a result of any inconsistency 
in name or address details, should write direct to Lloyds TSB Registrars so holdings can be combined, if appropriate.

CREST Proxy Voting
CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for the Annual General Meeting
to be held on 28 April 2006 and any adjournment(s) thereof by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual. Further details relating to voting via
CREST may be found on the Notice of Meeting/Proxy Card inserted within the Annual Report.

2006 Financial Calendar
The key events for the Company are set out below. Some of the dates are indicative only and may be subject to change.

2 March Preliminary announcement of 2005 annual results.

14 March Publication of Annual Report 2005.

28 April Annual General Meeting.

3 May Shares ex-dividend for 2005 final dividend.

5 May Record date for shareholders on the register to receive the 2005 final dividend.

31 May Payment of 2005 final dividend.

26 June Pre-close period statement.

3 August Preliminary announcement of 2006 interim results.

7 August Publication of Interim Report 2006.

1 November Shares ex-dividend for 2006 interim dividend.

3 November Record date for shareholders on the register to receive 2006 interim dividend.

30 November Payment of 2006 interim dividend.

13 December Pre-close period statement.


